FAO LIBRARY AN: 449049

Report of the

# NINETEENTH FAO REGIONAL CONFERENCE FOR LATIN AMERICA AND THE CARIBBEAN

Bridgetown, Barbados, 5-13 August 1986



FOOD AND AGRICULTURE ORGANIZATION OF THE UNITED NATIONS

# FAO Member Nations serviced by the Regional Office for Latin America and the Caribbean (at 13 August 1986)

Antigua and Barbuda Dominica Nicaragua
Argentina Dominican Republic Panama
Bahamas Ecuador Paraguay
Barbados El Salvador Peru

Belize Grenada Saint Christopher and Nevis

Bolivia Guatemala Saint Lucia

Brazil Guyana Saint Vincent and the Grenadines

Chile Haiti Suriname

Colombia Honduras Trinidad and Tobago

Costa Rica Jamaica Uruguay
Cuba Mexico Venezuela

#### Date and place of FAO Regional Conferences for Latin America and the Caribbean

First — Quito, Ecuador, 18 – 25 September 1949
Second — Montevideo, Uruguay, 1 – 12 December 1950
Third — Buenos Aires, Argentina, 1 – 10 September 1954

Fourth — Santiago, Chile, 19 – 30 November 1956

Fifth — San José, Costa Rica, 12 – 21 November 1958

Sixth — Mexico City, Mexico, 9 – 20 August 1960

Seventh — Rio de Janeiro, Brazil, 17 – 27 November 1962

Eighth — Viña del Mar, Chile, 13 – 29 March 1965

Ninth — Punta del Este, Uruguay, 5 – 16 December 1966
Tenth — Kingston, Jamaica, 2 – 13 December 1968
Eleventh — Caracas, Venezuela, 12 – 20 October 1970
Twelfth — Cali, Colombia, 21 August – 2 September 1972
Thirteenth — Panama City, Panama, 12 – 23 August 1974

Fourteenth — Lima, Peru, 21 – 29 April 1976

Fifteenth — Montevideo, Uruguay, 8 – 19 August 1978 Sixteenth — Havana, Cuba, 26 August – 6 September 1980

Seventeenth — Managua, Nicaragua, 30 August – 10 September 1982

Eighteenth — Buenos Aires, Argentina, 6 – 15 August 1984 Nineteenth — Bridgetown, Barbados, 5 – 13 August 1986 Report of the

NINETEENTH REGIONAL CONFERENCE

FOR LATIN AMERICA AND THE CARIBBEAN

Bridgetown, 5 - 13 August 1986

FOOD AND AGRICULTURE ORGANIZATION OF THE UNITED NATIONS

Rome, 1986

## TABLE OF CONTENTS

	Pages
SUMMARY OF THE MAIN RECOMMENDATIONS	v - ix
	Paragraphs
INTRODUCTION	1 - 2
Inaugural Ceremony	3 - 5
Election of the Chairman, Vice-Chairmen and Rapporteur	6 - 7
Statement by the Director-General of FAO	8
Adoption of the Agenda and Timetable	9
PLENARY SESSION ITEMS	10 - 50
Situation and Outlook of Food and Agriculture in the Region	10 - 33
Report on FAO Activities in the Region in 1984-85, including action taken on the main recommendations of the Eighteenth Regional Conference, and Programme of Work and Budget 1986-87	34 - 48
Consideration and adoption of the Report of the Technical Committee	49
Representation of the Region on the Consultative Group on International Agricultural Research (CGIAR)	50 - 54
CONCLUDING ITEMS	
Date and Place of the Twentieth Regional Conference for Latin America and the Caribbean	55 - 56
Adoption of the Report	57
Closure of the Conference	58 - 72
APPENDICES	
A - Agenda	
B - List of Participants	
C - List of Documents	
D - Statement by the Acting Prime Minister and Minister of Education and Culture of Barbados	
E - Statement by the Director-General to the Plenary	
F - Report of the Technical Committee	

#### SUMMARY OF THE MAIN RECOMMENDATIONS

## For the Attention of Governments

#### The Conference:

- 1. reiterated the need for concerted measures to achieve self-sufficiency in food production in the Region (para. 13).
- 2. urged Member Governments to increase trade between Latin American and Caribbean sub-regions, to strengthen technical cooperation between them and to find the ways in which those more advanced countries in Latin America could offer fellowships for training Caribbean technicians (para. 24).
- 3. urged Member Nations to increase significantly the share of agriculture in their national budgets (para. 30).

## For the attention of FAO

#### The Conference:

- 4. suggested that once an improvement in the food situation of Africa has been achieved, FAO give renewed attention and additional resources to Latin America and the Caribbean in future programmes of work and budget (para. 18).
- 5. endorsed the proposal for carrying out a study on Latin American and Caribbean agriculture and its long-term perspectives including the formulation of a plan of action and requested the Director-General to allocate the necessary resources for the initiation of the study as soon as possible (para. 20).
- 6. requested FAO's support in developing audio-visual techniques for training and transferring technology to farmers (para. 25).

## FAO Activities in the Region

### For the attention of FAO

#### The Conference:

7. expressed its full support to the activities carried out under the Technical Cooperation Network System sponsored by the Regional Office (para. 47).

# Representation of the Region on the Consultative Group on International Agricultural Research (CGIAR)

#### For the attention of Governments

- 8. expressed satisfaction with the active representation of the Region on the Consultative Group during the 1985-86 biennium (para. 53).
- 9. elected Venezuela to represent the Region on the CGIAR for the period 1987/1990 (para. 54).

#### The Role of Women in Rural Development

## For the attention of Governments

#### The Conference:

- 10. stressed the need for more information on such aspects of rural women's role in development as current legislation, statistical coverage and quality, and the conditions of indigenous women (para. 11, App. F).
- 11. suggested that efforts continue in applied research on energy sources for household and farm tasks, on appropriate technology to simplify women's work at home, and on simple agro-industrial techniques for food production and processing (para. 14, App. F).
- 12. emphasized the need that Member Governments provide literacy training for rural women (para. 15, App. F).
- 13. recommended that women be guaranteed access to ownership and admnistration of land as well as the inputs and resources necessary for its exploitation, in those countries where this has not yet been done (para. 16, App. F).
- 14. suggested that the impact on women of discriminatory applications and interpretations of legislation be looked into with the view of their elimination (para. 16, App. F).
- 15. suggested that Member Nations further study the consequences of female migration on demographic age structure in rural areas (para. 18, App. F).
- 16. stressed the need to ensure permanent integration of women into livestock production, agro-forestry, fisheries and marketing, etc., as established by Resolution 12/85 of the FAO Conference in 1985 (para. 20, App. F).
- 17. recommended more active participation by non-governmental organizations in implementing the recommendations of the United Nations Decade for Women (para. 30, App. F).

## For the Attention of FAO

- suggested that FAO activities in support of exchange of experiences among countries of the Region for a better understanding of the situation of rural women be continued and reinforced by new ones (para. 13, App. F).
- 19. suggested that FAO reinforce technical, administrative, entrepreneurial and social training for rural women in its programmes and projects (para. 15, App. F).
- 20. suggested that FAO along with other UN agencies support Member Nations in studying the impact on women of discriminatory applications and interpretations of legislation (para. 16, App. F).

- 21. requested that FAO and the other UN Agencies intensify their efforts to alleviate problems of housing, health, roads and transportation, as well as those dealing with the social aspects of rural communities, with adequate funding and integrated action (para. 24, App. F).
- 22. supported the leading role played by FAO in rural development within the UN System and suggested that the Organization take an even more active part in the integration of women in rural development (para. 26, App. F).

## Helping the Small Farmer

## For the Attention of Governments

#### The Conference:

- 23. reaffirmed the importance for Member Nations in promoting access to land ownership by small farmers, guaranteeing them security of tenure and easing titling procedures, in those countries where these problems have not yet been solved (para. 39, App. F).
- 24. recommended that Member Nations and international financing institutions increase resources available to finance programmes and projects for small farmers (para. 42, App. F).
- 25. recommended that the 1990 agriculture censuses include elements that could provide a true picture of the socio-economic conditions of small farmers and that studies on land tenure structures and socio-economic conditions of the peasant sector be updated (para. 49, App. F).
- 26. suggested that as far as possible and bearing in mind the specific characteristics of each country, participation of non-governmental organizations in rural development be expanded (para. 51, App. F).

### For the Attention of FAO

- 27. recommended that the small farmers' item be placed on the Agenda of future Regional Conferences so that advances made by this sector could be systematically analyzed (para. 34, App. F).
- 28. suggested that the documentation and ensuing discussion of this item at the Regional Conference be used in the preparation of the report on the evaluation of the follow-up to WCARRD to be discussed at the FAO Conference in 1987 (para. 35, App. F).
- 29. suggested that FAO continue giving special attention to the definition of the concept of small farmers (para. 37, App. F).
- 30. suggested that FAO give wider publicity to successful experiments in the Region with credit schemes specifically tailored to the needs of small farmers (para. 41, App. F).
- 31. requested FAO to disseminate the results of successful experiments in agricultural insurance schemes (para. 47, App. F).

32. requested FAO to promote and facilitate exchange of experiences on small farmers' problems, not only at technical level but also among small producers and their organizations (para. 48, App. F).

Round Table on Problems Affecting Agricultural Development in the Small Island States of the Caribbean

### For the attention of Governments:

#### The Conference:

33. urged Member Governments to apply at sub-regional level the recommendations put forward by the FAO document presented to the Round Table (para. 61, App. F), making use of native knowledge, technologies, experiences and skills available in the countries of the sub-region (para. 62, App. F).

#### For the Attention of FAO

#### The Conference:

34. suggested that FAO contribute through research and technical assistance in putting into best use human and technical resources traditionally available within the Caribbean sub-region in promoting development of the area (para. 62, App. F).

### Aquaculture and Rural Development

## For the Attention of Governments

#### The Conference:

35. supported Technical Cooperation among Developing Countries (TCDC) in the field of aquaculture and recommended that TCDC programmes include activities for artisanal fishermen (para. 71, App. F).

#### For the Attention of FAO

- 36. requested FAO assistance in attempting to device low-cost aquaculture technologies for rural population (para. 68, App. F).
- 37. suggested that FAO promote the exchange of experiences and knowledge among those directly linked to productive activities independently of technical level (para. 73, App. F).
- 38. recommended that audio-visual and other information materials be introduced and distributed to promote rural aquaculture (para. 76, App. F).

# Livestock Development Policies and Regional Cooperation in Latin America and the Caribbean

#### For the Attention of Governments

#### The Conference:

- 39. requested that Member Nations undertake concerted action to combat amblyoma variegatum tick (para. 93, App. F).
- 40. urged Member Governments to intensify action in the field of marketing, animal health, genetic improvement, training and technology dissemination and feed resources research in view of stimulating higher productivity and production levels (para. 94, App. F).

#### For the Attention of FAO

- 41. recommended that a Livestock Committee be established as an advisory body to the FAO Council, in accordance with Article VI-2 of the FAO Constitution and requested the Secretariat to initiate the necessary action for the implementation of this recommendation (para. 89, App. F).
- 42. recommended that a Livestock Expert Consultative Group or Panel of Experts be established to address regional issues related to the livestock sub-sector and provide a regular forum for consultations among Member Nations of the Region (para. 90, App. F).
- requested FAO to support Member Nations' efforts in combatting amblyoma variegatum tick and coordinate with them and other agencies regional activities in this field (para. 93, App. F).
- 44. invited FAO to strengthen its efforts in assisting Member Nations to establish regional and sub-regional technical cooperation networks, ensuring the active participation of national institutions (para. 95, App. F).
- 45. pointed out the following specific areas in which FAO assistance was required: livestock development funding; development of feed programmes focusing on potential of indigenous grasses; cattle and small ruminant health and development; application of biotechnologies in livestock production; health and genetic improvement (para. 96, App. F).

#### INTRODUCTION

- 1. The Nineteenth FAO Regional Conference for Latin America and the Caribbean was held in Sam Lord's Castle in St. Philip, Barbados, from 5 to 13 August 1986.
- 2. The Conference was attended by delegates from thirty Member Nations of the Region, observers from other countries outside the Region, representatives of various agencies of the United Nations System, specialized agencies and non-governmental organizations. The Agenda of the Conference, the List of Participants, the List of Documents, the statement by the Acting Prime Minister of Barbados, the inaugural statement by the Director-General of FAO, and the full text of the Report of the Technical Committee are presented as Appendices A, B, C, D, E and F, respectively.

### Inaugural Ceremony

- 3. Dr Edouard Saouma, Director-General of FAO took the floor. He drew special attention to the presence at the Inaugural Ceremony of the Acting Prime Minister and Minister of Education of Barbados, the Honourable Lloyd Erskine Sandiford, heading the Government due to the absence from the country of the Prime Minister, Mr Errol Barrow. He mentioned that the career of the Acting Prime Minister is closely linked with the history of Barbados. Mr Sandiford, a teacher by profession, spent a long period as Minister of Education in the late 1960s and 1970s; a period as Minister of Health, and represented his country at the United Nations. After the recent change of Government, he took up office again as Minister of Education and Deputy Prime Minister.
- 4. The Acting Prime Minister delivered a statement of major importance and declared the Nineteenth FAO Regional Conference for Latin America and the Caribbean open. The complete text is presented in Appendix D to this report.
- 5. The Director-General of FAO congratulated the Acting Prime Minister of Barbados on his excellent speech, in which he had raised questions of great importance for regional and world agriculture, which would constitute a guide for the Conference discussions. He drew attention to the Acting Prime Minister's deep concern for the needs of agriculture and particularly those of small farmers, and noted with sympathy his interest in eradicating, with FAO cooperation, some pests and diseases affecting animal and plant production. He thanked the Government of Barbados for hosting this Regional Conference, requesting that FAO's gratitude be conveyed to the Prime Minister of Barbados for the excellent logistic support provided by the Government, and extended his best wishes for the prosperity of the people and Government of Barbados.

## Election of Chairman, Vice-Chairmen and Rapporteur

- 6. The Conference unanimously elected Warwick O. Franklin, Minister of Agriculture, Food and Fisheries of Barbados, as Chairman. In a brief speech of acceptance, Mr Franklin expressed his appreciation to the delegates who had chosen him to lead the discussions, and pledged his utmost efforts for the success of the Conference.
- 7. The Conference then elected unanimously as Vice-Chairmen the following Heads of Delegations, who are listed in alphabetical order by country: Robin Yearwood, Minister of Agriculture, Land and Fisheries of Antigua and Barbuda;

Fidel Braceras, Under-Secretary of Agriculture of Argentina; Lázaro Ferreira Barboza, Vice-Minister of Agriculture of Brazil; Carlos Aquilino Duarte Funes, Minister of Agriculture and Livestock of El Salvador; and Eduardo Pesqueira Olea, Secretary of Agriculture and Water Resources of Mexico. Mr Humberto Carrión, Ambassador of Nicaragua to FAO, was elected Rapporteur, with the authority to seek whatever assistance he needed to perform his task.

## Statement by the Director-General of FAO

8. The Director-General of FAO, Mr Edouard Saouma, made a statement in which he reviewed the general economic and agricultural situation of the region. The complete text is presented in Appendix E to this report.

## Adoption of the Agenda and Timetable

9. The Conference unanimously approved the Agenda and Timetable submitted for its consideration by the Secretariat.

#### PLENARY SESSION ITEMS

### Situation and outlook of Food and Agriculture in the Region

- 10. The Conference expressed its gratitude to the people and Government of Barbados for their warm welcome and the facilities provided for the Regional Conference, and congratulated the Minister of Agriculture of this country on his appointment as Chairman of the Nineteenth FAO Regional Conference for Latin America and the Caribbean.
- 11. The Conference congratulated the Director-General of FAO on his lucid analysis of the economic situation of the Region and of agriculture in particular. Despite the sombre perspective revealed by this analysis, the delegations supported the optimistic note regarding the future of the Region on which the Director-General concluded his statement.
- 12. The Conference recognized the serious many-sided, structural and long-term crisis affecting the Region. The interdependence between these factors and between national and international policies make it necessary for the Governments of the Region, developed countries and regional and international organizations to adopt comprehensive, multidisciplinary, urgent and coordinated measures. Failure to do so would lead to a systematic deterioration of Regional economies, with unpredictable social, economic and political effects. The Conference emphasized the right of all nations to equitable development.
- 13. The Conference <u>highlighted</u> the fact that Latin America and the Caribbean were undergoing a serious and unprecedented economic crisis, intensified by the heavy burden of external debt, the fall in export prices, adverse terms of trade, and by a net transfer of resources out of the Region, which had led to a reduction in per caput income and food supplies and an increase in poverty and malnutrition, especially in the most vulnerable population groups. Countries in the area are reappraising their development strategies and priorities and re-examining the pivotal function of agriculture in the economic recovery and growth of the Region. In this context, the Conference reiterated the need to take concerted measures to achieve self-sufficiency in food production in Latin America and the Caribbean Region.

- 14. The Conference examined document LARC/86/INF/4 entitled "Background Paper on Food and Agricultural Situation in Latin America and the Caribbean", covering the specific problems of agriculture in their countries, including forestry and fisheries, and the strategies and policies they were preparing to overcome these problems. One delegation requested the Director-General of FAO to take into account the interests and priorities of Member Nations reflected in these statements when planning future FAO activities in the Region.
- 15. The Conference condemned protectionist policies and the subsidies war which particularly affect developing countries. The placing of large agricultural surpluses through dumping practices has significantly depressed the prices of staple commodities in international markets, and severely limited the capacity of the countries of the Region to relaunch their development processes and to face their external debt commitments. In this regard, the Conference called the attention of industrialized developed countries responsible for such practices, to refrain from these ominous policies which so affect the economies of the countries of the Region.
- 16. The Conference considered that these policies are irrational, since these countries, on the one hand, demand payment of the huge external debt of countries in the Region and, on the other, put up barriers to prevent debtor countries from finding outlets for their exportable products on the international market, thus obtaining resources with which to service their debts.
- 17. The Conference <u>pointed out</u> the need to request, at the forthcoming session of GATT, that the same treatment be given to agricultural products, as is presently given to manufactured goods.
- 18. Several delegations stated that they understood the efforts made by FAO in channelling exceptional resources to Africa, in view of the severe famines suffered by that continent in recent years. However, at the same time they pointed out that this has affected the level of FAO assistance towards Latin America and the Caribbean. In this respect, they were of the opinion that the improvement in Africa's food situation will lead to renewed attention and additional resources for Latin America and the Caribbean. They also stated their disagreement with policies of international finance agencies in the sense of limiting the allocation of resources to Latin America and the Caribbean countries based on mere statistical considerations of average income per caput or on the reasoning that most countries in the Region have reached an intermediate level of development, overlooking the existence of pockets of extreme poverty that urgently require external resources to alleviate their situation of marginalization from the benefits of development.
- 19. Several delegations referred to the arms race, emphasizing the injustice of wasting vast sums of money for the war purposes while a substantial part of the world population suffers from acute deficiencies and malnutrition.
- 20. The Conference expressed its satisfaction for the Director-General's acceptance, in his statement, of the suggestion made by the Representatives of the countries of the Region to FAO, that the Organization conduct a specific study on the economic situation, as well as its implication on the long-term development of the Region, in what pertains to food and agriculture. In this respect, they requested the Director-General to allocate the necessary resources to initiate this study as soon as possible. They also requested that the study should contemplate the formulation of a Plan of Action including the

role of FAO as well as that of the Governments themselves and the cooperation of other international organizations interested in the development of the Region.

- The Conference referred to the subjects analyzed by the Technical Committee, highlighting their importance, and expressed its satisfaction for the conclusions reached stressing the high significance of the role of women in rural development and in agricultural and food production and the growing importance of their participation within an integral development system. The Conference <u>noted</u> that the contribution of small farmers has become one of the most significant elements of agricultural development in the Region. It expressed its agreement with the orientations of document LARC/86/5, "Helping the Small Farmer", particularly with regard to the strategies, policies and programmes which will allow this sector of farmers to overcome the problems they face. Likewise, upon approving document LARC/86/6 "Problems Affecting Agricultural Development in the Small Island States of the Caribbean", the Conference stated that this is a matter of great concern, requiring particular attention. It also referred to the relatively unexplored field of aquaculture and its potential; to the specific and valuable attention afforded by the Conference to the problems of the island states of the Caribbean; to problems of the livestock sector and to the strategies for approaching their solution.
- 22. The Conference stated that, in the present crisis affecting the countries of the Region, agriculture appears to be most important and strategic sector for reactivating and developing their economies and pointed out that the Governments were paying special attention to this aspect. It emphasized the important role that FAO technical assistance can play in this respect.
- 23. The Conference denounced the campaign conducted by some developed countries against multilateralism, and the threat to the stability and the very existence of several agencies in the United Nations System. Along the same lines, there was criticism of the imposition by these countries of "zero growth" on the budgets of international agencies, which, in the case of FAO, has limited its possibilities of granting greater assistance to the countries of the Region.
- 24. It was highlighted that, although the specific problems of the Caribbean countries are different from those of Latin America, emphasis should be given to the need for increasing trade among both groups of countries; to the strengthening of technical cooperation among them; and to the need of finding the ways in which those more advanced countries of Latin America can offer fellowships for training Caribbean technicians in their technical institutions.
- 25. The importance of audio-visual techniques for training and transferring technology to farmers was <a href="mailto:emphasized">emphasized</a>. The consensus was that FAO has the technical and operational capabilities to help the countries of Latin America and the Caribbean in developing these communication methods and FAO's support was requested for this purpose.
- 26. The Conference expressed its appreciation for the prompt and positive response of the Director-General of FAO through its Technical Cooperation Programme (TCP), to request to the Organization for assistance in emergency situations. In this respect, the delegations reiterated their endorsement to the form of operation of this Programme and expressed the hope that resources allocated to the TCP would be increased.

- 27. The Conference noted with interest the important initiative adopted by two countries of the Region, in the form of a joint declaration, on an eventual regional treaty of assistance in food emergencies.
- 28. The Conference pointed out that the recommendations of the Eighteenth Regional Conference held in Buenos Aires, had been useful for programming actions in favour of the most vulnerable groups of the agricultural sector.
- 29. One delegation mentioned its government's intention of making available to all countries of the Region who so desired, the finding of its research in the production of high-yielding plantain and banana varieties, resistant to Black Sigatoka.
- 30. Some delegations <u>referred</u> to the share of the national budgets allocated to the agricultural sector and urged governments of Member Nations of the Region to increase it significantly.
- 31. One delegation mentioned the action being undertaken by its government, in cooperation with another, against narcotraffics. It stated that because of the important number of small farmers involved in the problem, the final solution in the country will necessarily be based on the adoption of agricultural development policies which will favour the substitution of coca cultivation by other agricultural products of similar profitability. Finally it requested FAO's attention and cooperation in the search of a solution to this problem.
- 32. Some delegations from English-speaking countries of the Caribbean expressed their hope that, when recruiting technicians for technical assistance projects, candidates from the subregion would be considered, in view of their experience and knowledge of the problems of the subregion.
- 33. The Conference reiterated the principle that food should not be used as an instrument of political pressure.

Report on FAO activities in the Region in 1984-85, including action taken on the main recommendations of the Eighteenth Regional Conference, and Programme of Work and Budget 1986-87

- 34. The Assistant Director-General of FAO and Regional Representative for Latin America and the Caribbean, Mr Mario E. Jalil, presented both items, referring to basic documents LARC/86/2 and LARC/86/3. He emphasized that the report and the Programme of Work of FAO in the Region covered the activities of all the Organization in Latin America and the Caribbean.
- 35. He informed in detail and with concrete figures, on projects financed either with Regular Programme or extrabudgetary resources; on missions fielded by the FAO Investment Centre; on World Food Programme projects; on missions carried out by the regional officers and on activities of Technical Cooperation among Developing Countries sponsored by the Regional Office, within the framework of the technical cooperation networks system.
- 36. He <u>described</u> the functions of the Regional Office, stressing that in the interest of optimum performance, the Office holds constant consultations with national institutions, and promotes and implements a significant variety of a technical-professional nature, which are inserted in national efforts through the advisory services of regional officers or consultants, or through specific studies, or the promotion and organization of horizontal technical cooperation or TCDC (Technical Cooperation among Developing Countries).

- 37. He reviewed the origin and development of the technical cooperation networks system, highlighting the strong endorsement it has received from the countries of the Region. He made special reference to the comprehensive evaluation of this system carried out in 1985 by the Regional Office, which resulted in extremely positive conclusions on their operation as well as in suggestions for consolidating the system.
- 38. He <u>informed</u> in detail on measures adopted with reference to the recommendations of the Eighteenth Regional Conference held in Buenos Aires, Argentina, in 1984.
- 39. He <u>presented</u> the Programme of Work 1986-87, which includes a series of joint actions between the departments and divisions of Headquarters, the Regional Office, the FAO Country Representations and the Field Programme, financed with extrabudgetary resources, with a total estimated budget of US\$ 105 million, which responds to the major objectives established by the Director-General in the selection of priorities.
- 40. He mentioned some administrative and operational problems within the countries which, if solved, would facilitate the operation of the technical cooperation networks and, therefore, would provide a greater benefit to the countries concerned.
- 41. He <u>concluded</u> referring to the Distance Training and Orientation Programme sponsored by the Regional Office to develop, together with the national institutions, a series of channels for the transfer of knowledge and experiences, which he considered a highly effective instrument for strengthening horizontal cooperation amongst the countries of the Region.
- 42. The Conference concluded its examination of the Programme of FAO in the Region, with unanimous support to the efforts displayed by the Organization and congratulated the Regional Representative on the work achieved.
- 43. The Conference expressed its great concern for the absence of a meaningful increase in the Organization's budget for Latin America and the Caribbean, condemned the zero growth policy applied in the budget of multi-lateral assistance agencies, and emphasized the effort made by the Region in helping to find solutions to the African crisis.
- 44. Three delegations <u>indicated</u> the need to increase available resources and to intensify their utilization and <u>recommended</u> that FAO continue to work in close cooperation with other international agencies.
- 45. The Secretariat reported in detail on the situation of and prospects for availability of budgetary resources.
- 46. Most delegations emphasized the wide scope, quality and usefulness of the data contained in document LARC/86/2, "Report on FAO activities in the Region". One delegation suggested that, in future, this document be printed in a more simple, practical and less costly manner, in view of the increasing scarcity of resources.
- 47. The Conference <u>reiterated</u> its full support to the activities carried out under the Technical Cooperation Network System, sponsored by the Regional Office. One delegation <u>indicated</u> that training should start at the grass-root level, and that the Regional Office is performing an instrumental role in the transfer of technology.

48. One delegation informed that the 1987/1991 Medium-Term Plan of the Inter-American Institute for Cooperation on Agriculture (IICA), which was analyzed by the Executive Committee of that organization at its meeting in July 1986 and submitted by its Resolution 56 to the Inter-American Board of Agriculture for approval, has discontinued the programmes of Information and Conservation and Management of Renewable Natural Resources. The delegation considered that, although these programmes could implicitly be included in others in the new IICA Medium-Term Programme, there are aspects of conservation of natural resources such as flora and fauna and watershed management and protection, that will remain marginalized, proposing, therefore, that FAO undertake them.

#### Consideration and adoption of the Report of the Technical Committee

49. The Conference examined the report of the Technical Committee and adopted its conclusions and recommendations. The text of the report of the Technical Committee, as approved by the Conference, is attached in Appendix F to this Report.

# Representation of the Region on the Consultative Group on International Agricultural Research (CGIAR)

- 50. In introducing this item, the Secretariat made a brief summary of document LARC/86/9, giving detailed information on the structure, and main functions of the CGIAR, on its objectives, financing and the participation of developing countries.
- 51. The Secretariat indicated that one of the present representatives of the Region, Colombia, was about to complete its term of office and should be replaced by another country of the Region for the period 1987/1990.
- 52. The Representative of Argentina, who will continue in office until the end of 1988, gave additional information to the one provided by the Secretariat on the introduction referring to activities conducted during his term of office and to the problems faced by the Group in order to expedite the transfer of the findings of advanced agricultural research. He emphasized the need to attain a greater institutional representation of the Region on the Consultative Group.
- 53. The Conference expressed its satisfaction with the active representation of the Region on the Consultative Group during the 1985-86 biennium.
- 54. The Conference unanimously <u>elected</u> Venezuela to replace Colombia as Representative of Latin America and the Caribbean on the CGIAR for the period 1987/1990.

## CONCLUDING ITEMS

# Date and Place of the Twentieth Regional Conference for Latin America and the Caribbean

55. The Conference took note of the offer by the delegation of Colombia, to host the Twentieth Regional Conference.

56. The Director-General thanked the delegation of Colombia for this offer and advised that the date and place would be determined taking into consideration other offers and the timing of other important meetings to be held in 1988.

### Adoption of the Report

57. The Chairman <u>submitted</u> the draft report prepared by the Rapporteur, with the support of the <u>Secretariat</u>, for consideration by the Conference, which after considering each section of the draft report and introducing the modifications that were incorporated in this final version, unanimously approved it.

#### Closure of the Conference

- 58. The Director-General of FAO, Dr Edouard Saouma, in his closing remarks praised the excellence of the Conference organization and expressed his appreciation to the Chairman and the Government and people of Barbados for their hospitality.
- 59. The Director-General highlighted the role of country statements in the FAO Biennial Conference and particularly in the forum of regional conferences. He mentioned that country statements, firstly, gave a policy statement of the external and internal factors affecting food and agriculture, in particular their perception and experiences of the international economic and financial situation, the effect of the debt reimbursement and high interest rates, the paradox of subsidies to agriculture in the developed world and resulting surpluses, while agriculture in the developing world is stunted by protectionism in international trade and low commodity prices, the lack of resources for inputs and incentives and the marginalization of the small farmer. Secondly, the statements included a wealth of interesting and useful information on the strategies of governments, their achievements, difficulties and their aspiration for the development of their agriculture, fisheries and forestry subsectors.
- 60. The Director-General emphasized that the country statements were valuable because they provided an opportunity to become better acquainted with the problems requiring further FAO assistance and that he had noticed, apart from broad fields such as food security, numerous requests for specific assistance. He assured the delegations who voiced the requests that he would ensure specific action through his representatives.
- 61. The Director-General stated that, in addition to the general debate, he had benefited greatly from private discussions, which had enabled him to understand and appreciate more acutely the problems and individual needs and how FAO could respond to them.
- 62. The Director-General pointed out that the ready adoption of the report submitted to the Conference by the Technical Committee was testimony of its quality. Thanks to the thoroughness of its analysis and the clarity of its conclusions, it provided clear recommendations on a wide range of issues which are of particular relevance to the Region, which, if consistently implemented, will give fresh impetus to agricultural development for the rest of this decade and beyond.
- 63. In referring to the debates the Director-General stated that recommendations regarding the role of women in rural development and helping

the small farmer, could be viewed jointly. He stressed that although the message of major world conferences such as the World Conference on Agrarian Reform and Rural Development and the Conference of the United Nations Decade for Women was so direct and evident, very often it is basic changes which are most difficult to bring about. He expressed his belief that changes in this area are crucially dependant on the human factor, training, and the exchange of experience for common benefit; he was aware of the emphasis given in the Region to these issues, and they will continue to represent the core of our efforts.

- 64. The Director-General indicated that the relatively minor share of this Region in world production from aquaculture is a striking reminder of the possibilities opened for development. He was keen to see the same progress as in Asia, where FAO was proud to have been associated, with the advance in genetic selection, technology and operation; he was sure that in the years to come there would be reasons to be proud of this Region's achievements in aquaculture, an area for significant regional and inter-regional cooperation.
- of. The Director-General referred to the substantial natural resources and very favourable conditions with which the Region is endowed for livestock development and pointed out that the Region's progress in this sector has been dramatically slowed because of the protectionist policies of importing countries. He recalled that the Technical Committee and the Regional Conference had expressed a wish for a forum to deal with these issues in FAO and stated that he will consider this. He mentioned that there had been recognition for the comprehensive programmes of FAO in this field, but that the Organization had carefully noted the further steps it had been called upon to take so that FAO would have a leading role in coordinating international assistance to the livestock sector of this Region.
- 66. The Director-General stated that he was satisfied with the innovative approach of discussing a subject of concern to a group of countries in the Region at a round table, as was the examination of the problems affecting agricultural development in the small island States of the Caribbean. This process resulted in clear policy guidelines for further harnessing the wealth of human, cultural and technological resources of the island states and concentrating on agricultural diversification aimed at maximizing family income and export earnings. He expressed FAO's readiness to assist in their implementation.
- 67. The Director-General stated that the recommendations addressed to FAO would receive his careful attention and, as always, he would convey them to the Council and the FAO Conference, indicating how he proposed to take them into account in framing the next Programme of Work and Budget for 1988-89, which he would start to prepare in September.
- 68. The Director-General warned that the financial outlook for the next three years is still unclear, but is not promising. Like other organizations of the United Nations System, FAO faces serious losses this year and next, as a result of several factors, including the devaluation of the dollar and the expected shortfall in contributions aggravated by the payment of less than its assessed contribution by the largest contributor. He reminded the meeting that FAO resources are limited in comparison with needs and that more efforts were required to help Africa to recover, but added that he will do his best to give appropriate response to the demands of member countries of the Region.

- The Director-General referred to his opening remarks and indicated that he was particularly stimulated by the request for an in-depth study on the potential and prospects for agricultural development in Latin America and the Caribbean. Work will need to be initiated during this biennium in order to submit this study to the next Regional Conference in 1988. Although budgetary stringencies are very real, he will not delay taking the action required. The study would assess past and present performance, as well as future prospects for the food and agricultural sector of the Region. The objective would be to suggest a plan of action for governments, for achieving not only accelerated growth, but also alleviation of poverty. It will seek to identify national programmes and policies for consideration by governments and also assist them in mobilizing the support of the international community in achieving their objectives. It will also have implications for FAO's programme in the Region. The study, as suggested by a number of speakers, will examine the latest data, developments and policy measures as well as the role of the sector in the Region's overall development. At the same time, in view of the differences in agro-ecological, social and economic factors, it will need to differentiate between subregions. The Director-General shared the view that it was important to involve other organizations which can usefully contribute, in particular the Economic Commission for Latin America and the Caribbean, with which FAO has close collaboration through the Joint Division. He also stated that at an appropriate stage in the preparation of the study, he will seek the advice and comments of experts from the Region, which will enable the Organization to assess the realism and relevance of the analysis and the proposed plan of action, before finalizing them.
- 70. The Director-General thanked all the member countries of the Region for renewing their commitment to support the Organization and the Director-General personally.
- 71. Several delegations supported the general consensus that the Acting Prime Minister of Barbados, in his candid and forthright address, had set the tone for this Regional Conference by bringing into sharp focus the problems which beset the developing countries of the Caribbean and Latin America. They praised the way in which the Chairman had conducted the Conference, in a manner consistent with the high traditions and ideals of FAO and thanked him and the people of Barbados for the excellent hospitality. They thanked the Director-General of FAO and his dedicated staff for the excellent arrangements made for the Conference, which had vastly contributed to the high quality and objectivity of the general debate and to the speed with which the Agenda was dealt with. They also thanked all who, in one way or another, had contributed to the success of the Conference.
- 72. The Chairman thanked all the participants for the opportunity offered to Barbados and himself to extend the hospitality of this country and declared the Nineteenth Regional Conference of FAO for Latin America and the Caribbean closed.

#### AGENDA OF THE TECHNICAL COMMITTEE

#### (5-8 August 1986)

## I. INTRODUCTORY ITEMS

- 1. Opening of the Technical Committee
- 2. Election of the Chairman, Vice-Chairmen and Rapporteur
- 3. Adoption of the Agenda and Timetable

#### II. TECHNICAL ITEMS

- 4. Role of Women in Rural Development
- 5. Helping the Small Farmer
- 6. Round Table on Problems Affecting Agricultural Development in Small Island States of the Caribbean
- 7. Aquaculture and Rural Development
- 8. Livestock Development Policies and Regional Cooperation in Latin America and the Caribbean
- 9. Adoption of the Report

#### AGENDA OF THE PLENARY SESSION

(11-13 August 1986)

## I. INTRODUCTORY ITEMS

- 1. Inaugural Ceremony
- 2. Election of the Chairman, Vice-Chairmen and Rapporteur
- 3. Adoption of the Agenda and Timetable

### II. STATEMENTS

- 4. Statement of the Director-General
- 5. Country statements and general debate on the food and agriculture situation in Latin America and the Caribbean
- 6. Report by the Assistant Director-General, Regional Representative on FAO activities in the Region, including action taken on the main recommendations of the 18th Regional Conference, and Programme of Work and Budget 1986-87

## III. CONCLUDING ITEMS

- 7. Consideration of the Report of the Technical Committee
- 8. Representation of the Region on the Consultative Group on International Agricultural Research (CGIAR)
- 9. Any other business
- 10. Date and Place of the 20th FAO Regional Conference for Latin America and the Caribbean
- 11. Adoption of the Report
- 12. Closure of the Conference

APENDICE B APPENDIX B ANNEXE B

LISTA DE PARTICIPANTES LIST OF PARTICIPANTS LISTE DES PARTICIPANTS

MESA DE LA CONFERENCIA OFFICERS OF THE CONFERENCE BUREAU DE LA CONFERENCE

Presidente Chairman Président Warwick O. Franklin (Barbados)

Vicepresidentes Vice-Chairmen Vice-Présidents Robin Yearwood (Antigua and Barbuda)
Fidel Braceras (Argentina)
Lázaro Ferreira Barboza (Brazil)
Carlos Aquilino Duarte Funes
(El Salvador)
Eduardo Pesqueira Olea (México)

Relator Rapporteur

Humberto Carrión (Nicaragua)

Mesa del Comité Técnico Officers of Technical Committee Bureau du Comité Technique

Presidente Chairman Président Clifton Maynard (Barbados)

Vicepresidente Vice-Chairmen Vice-Présidents Octavio Rainho Neves (Brazil) Jorge N. Muñoz (Ecuador)

Relator Rapporteur Javier Gazzo Fernández (Perú)

### ESTADOS MIEMBROS ATENDIDOS POR LA OFICINA REGIONAL MEMBER NATIONS SERVICED BY THE REGIONAL OFFICE PAYS MEMBRES DESSERVIS PAR LE BUREAU REGIONAL

ANTIGUA	Y	BARBUDA	1/04	ANTIGUA	AND	BARBUDA
ANTIGUA-	-Е	T-BARBUD/	1			

Head of Delegation

and fisheries

St. John's Robin Yearwood Minister of Agriculture, Lands and fisheries Ministry of Agriculture, Lands

Alternates

St. John's Ernest S. Benjamin Permanent Secretary Ministry of Agriculture, Lands and fisheries

Frances Henry

Director of Agriculture St. John's Ministry of Agriculture, Lands

and Fisheries Carl J. Walter

St. John's

Adviser

Ministry of Agriculture, Lands and Fisheries

#### ARGENTINA - ARGENTINE

Jefe de Delegación

fidel Braceras Buenos Aires Subsecretario de Agricultura Subsecretaría de Agricultura, Ganadería y Pesca

Suplentes

Buenos Aires Edgardo Moscardi Director Nacional - INTA

Guillermo E. González Representante Permanente ante la FAO

Néstor Alcides More Buenos Aires Director de Parques Nacionales

Ms. Martha B. Anuch Buenos Aires Jefa Nacional Extensión en Hogar Rural - INTA Coordinadora Programa Sociología Rural - INTA

Mario Claudio Figliozzi Buenos Aires Secretario del Director de Parques Nacionales

J. Elustondo Buenos Aires Subsecretario Desarrollo Regional Ministerio de Economía

## BAHAMAS

Head of Delegation Peter Bethell Nassau

Parliamentary Secretary Ministry of Economic Affairs

Alternates Colin C. Deane Nassau

Permanent Secretary Ministry of Economic Affairs

North Andros Lightbourne Ayrett

Assistant Director of Agriculture Island

Ghaly Swann Nassau

Senior Agricultural Officer Department of Agriculture

#### BARBADOS - BARBADE

Head of Delegation Warwick O. Franklin

Minister of Agriculture, Food and Fisheries Christ Church

Alternates Clifton Maynard

Christ Church Permanent Secretary

Ministry of Agriculture,

Food and Fisheries

Albert A. Brathwaite Deputy Permanent Secretary Christ Church

Christ Church

Ministry of Agriculture,

Food and Fisheries

Lionel Smith

Chief Agricultural Officer Ministry of Agriculture,

Food and Fisheries

J. Percival W. Jeffers

Deputy Chief Agricultural Officer Christ Church

Ministry of Agriculture,

food and Fisheries

Cephas Gooding Chief Economist Christ Church Ministry of Agriculture, Food and Fisheries

Ralph V. Jones Acting Fisheries Officer Christ Church Ministry of Agriculture, Food and Fisheries

E.L. Beckles Economist Christ Church Ministry of Agriculture, Food and Fisheries

Ms. Carmeta Fraser V. St. Michael Senator Food Promotion Consultant

## BELIZE - BELICE

Head of Delegation Dean R. Lindo Belmopan Minister of Agriculture

Alternate Rodney Neal Belmopan Permanent Secretary Ministry of Agriculture

#### BOLIVIA - BOLIVIE

Jefe de Delegación Edil Sandoval Morón La Paz Ministro de Asuntos Campesinos y Agropecuarios

#### BRASIL - BRAZIL - BRESIL

Head of Delegation Lázaro Ferreira Barboza Brasilia Vice-Minister Secretary General Ministry of Agriculture

Alternates

Octavio Rainho Neves Rome Ambassador

Permanent Representative to FAO

Ms. Francisca Mendes de Menezes Brasilia Ministry of Agriculture

Carlos Alberto Guimaraes Brasilia Secretary Ministry of Foreign Affairs

#### CHILE - CHILI

Jefe de Delegación

Diego Valenzuela

Santiago Director de Política Multilateral Ministerio de Relaciones Exteriores Suplentes Ms. Carmen Luz Guarda Santiago Director Asuntos Económicos Multilaterales Ministerio de Relaciones Exteriores

Juan Larraín Wáshington, D.C. Ministro Consejero, Delegación de Chile ante la Organización de los Estados Americanos

Antonio Bayas Santiago Asesor del Departamento Naciones Unidas de la Dirección Económica del Ministerio de Relaciones Exteriores

#### COLOMBIA - COLOMBIE

Jefe de Delegación Gonzalo Bula-Hoyos Roma Embajador ante la FAO

Suplentes Ms. Mery Cecilia Hurtado Roma

Tercera Secretaria Embajada de Colombia

Carlos Ayerbe Bridgetown Embajador de Colombia

#### COSTA RICA

Jefe de Delegación

Ms. Sandra Piszk San José Vice-Ministro de Planificación

#### CUBA

Jefe de Delegación Julio César Valmaseda La Habana Vice-Ministro

Ministerio de Agricultura

Suplentes

Leopoldo Ariza Hidalgo Roma Embajador

Representante Permanente ante la FAO

Marcos Nieto Lara La Habana Jefe, Departamento de Cooperación Internacional Ministerio de Agricultura

José Martínez García La Habana Ministerio de Relaciones Exteriores

#### DOMINICA - DOMINIQUE

Head of Delegation

Charles Maynard Roseau Minister of Agriculture, Trade

and Tourism

Alternate

Colin Bully Roseau Agricultural Development Adviser Ministry of Agriculture, Trade and Tourism

# REPUBLICA DOMINICANA - DOMINICAN REPUBLIC - REPUBLIQUE DOMINICAINE

Jefe de Delegación

Rafael Ortíz Quezada Santo Domingo Representante del Secretario de Estado de Agricultura

#### ECUADOR - EQUATEUR

Jefe de Delegación
Jorge N. Muñoz Quito
Asesor Económico y de Asuntos
Internacionales
Ministerio de Agricultura y
Ganadería

#### EL SALVADOR

Jefe de Delegación Carlos Aquilino Duarte Funes San Salvador Ministro de Agricultura y Ganadería

Suplente

Ivo Priamo Alvarenga Roma Representante Permanente ante la FAO

#### GRANADA - GRENADA - GRENADE

Head of Delegation
George Brizan
St. George's
Minister of Agriculture, Forestry,
Fisheries, Lands and Tourism

Alternate

Denis S.O. Noel St. George's Chief Technical Officer Ministry of Agriculture

#### GUATEMALA

#### GUYANA

Head of Delegation

Robert Corbin Georgetown

Deputy Prime Minister Ministry of Agriculture

Alternates

Fitz Gerald Dorway Georgetown

Permanent Secretary Ministry of Agriculture

Ms. Elsie Croal Georgetown

Agricultural Programme Coordinator

Ministry of Agriculture

### HAITI

Chef de delegation

Gustave Ménager Port-au-Prince

Ministre de l'Agriculture

Suppléants

Antonio Aimé Port-au-Prince

Directeur Général

Ministère de l'Agriculture

André Jean Louis Port-au-Prince

Chef de Cabinet

Ministère de l'Agriculture

#### HONDURAS

Jefe de Delegación

Rodrigo Castillo Aguilar Tegucigalpa

Secretario de Estado en los Despachos de Recursos Naturales

Suplente

Director General de Ganadería

#### JAMAICA - JAMAIQUE

Head of Delegation

Clarence A. Franklin Kingston Permanent Secretary

Ministry of Agriculture

## MEXICO - MEXIQUE

Jefe de Delegación Eduardo Pesqueira Olea Ciudad de México Secretario de la Secretaría de Agricultura y Recursos Hidráulicos

Suplentes

José Ramón López Portillo Romano Roma Representante Permanente ante la FAO

Carlos Vidali Carbajal Ciudad de México Director General de Asuntos Internacionales Secretaría de Agricultura y Recursos Hidráulicos

Ms. Norah Horna F. Ciudad de México Directora General de la Organización de Productores Secretaría de Agricultura y Recursos Hidráulicos

Ms. Rosamaría Villarello R. Ciudad de México Secretaria Técnica de la Dirección General de Asuntos Internacionales Secretaría de Agricultura y Recursos Hidráulicos

Ms. Rosa Elena Montes de Oca Ciudad de México Secretaria Técnica del Programa de Alimentación y Proayudas Especiales Secretaría de Programación y Presupuesto

Ms. Margarita Lizárraga Saucedo Roma Consejera para Asuntos Pesqueros Representación Permanente ante la FAO

Leopoldo G. Michel Díaz Ciudad de México Secretaría Relaciones Exteriores

Luis Saenz Arroyo Ciudad de México Secretario Privado Ministerio de Agricultura y Recursos Hidráulicos

#### NICARAGUA

Jefe de Delegación
Julio C. Castillo O. Managua
Ministro-Director
Instituto Nicaragüense de Recursos
Naturales y el Ambiente - IRENA

Suplentes
Humberto Carrión Roma
Embajador ante la FAO

Julio López M. Managua Director General Programa Alimentario Nicaraguense (PAN)

Alvaro Porta B. Managua Director General Gestión Multilateral Ministerio de Cooperación Externa

#### PANAMA

Jefe de Delegación José Manuel Watson Roma Embajador-Representante ante la FAO

Suplente

Ms. Carol Montenegro Roma
Representante Permanente Alterna
ante la FAO

#### PARAGUAY

## PERU - PEROU

Jefe de Delegación
Javier Gazzo Fernández Roma
Embajador-Representante Permanente
ante la FAO

# SAN CRISTOBAL Y NIEVES - ST. CHRISTOPHER AND NEVIS - SAINT-CHRISTOPHE-ET-NEVIS

Head of Delegation
Hugh Heyliger
Minister of Agriculture, Lands,
Housing and Development

Alternate
Anthony Mills
Assistant Secretary
Ministry of Agriculture, Lands,
Housing and Development

## SANTA LUCIA - ST. LUCIA - SAINTE-LUCIE

Ministry of Agriculture

Head of Delegation
Ira D'Auvergne Castries
Minister of Agriculture, Lands,
Fisheries and Cooperatives

Alternate
Michael Willius Castries

# SAN VICENTE Y LAS GRANADINAS - ST. VINCENT AND THE GRENADINES - SAINT-VINCENT-ET-GRENADINES.

Head of Delegation

Marcus De Freitas Kingstown

Minister of Agriculture, Trade

and Industry

Alternates

Kingsley C.A. Layne Kingstown Permanent Secretary Ministry of Agriculture, Trade and Industry

Grafton Randolph Vanloo Kingstown Chief Agricultural Officer Ministry of Agriculture, Trade and Industry

#### SURINAME

# TRINIDAD Y TABAGO - TRINIDAD AND TOBAGO TRINITE-ET-TOBAGO

Head of Delegation
Kamaluddin Mohammed Port-of-Spain
Minister of Agriculture, Lands
and Food Production
Ministry of Agriculture, Lands
and Food Production

Alternates

Mannie Dookeran Port-of-Spain Chief Technical Officer Ministry of Agriculture, Lands and Food Production

Peter A. Rambert Bridgetown
Deputy High Commissioner

#### URUGUAY

Jefe de Delegación
Miguel Carriquiri Montevideo
Director General de Política
Agraria.
Ministerio de Ganadería,
Agricultura y Pesca

#### VENEZUELA

Jefe de Delegación Mercedes Fermín Gómez Roma Embajadora ante la FAO .Suplentes

José A. Carballo D'Gregorio Caracas Presidente Instituto Agrario Nacional

Corina Russian de Guglielmelli Embajada de Venezuela Bridgetown

•

OBSERVADORES DE ESTADOS MIEMBROS QUE NO SON ATENDIDOS
POR LA OFICINA REGIONAL
OBSERVERS FROM MEMBER NATIONS NOT SERVICED BY THE
REGIONAL OFFICE
OBSERVATEURS DES ETATS MEMBRES QUI NE SONT PAS
DESSERVIS PAR LE BUREAU REGIONAL

#### CANADA

R. Macintosh
Canadian International Development
Agency - CIDA

Tomothy Martin Canadian High Commission Bridgetown

# ESTADOS UNIDOS DE AMERICA - UNITED STATES OF AMERICA ETATS-UNIS D'AMERIQUE

Joan Wallace Dawkins Washington D.C.
Administrator, Office of International
Cooperation and Development
Department of Agriculture

William B. Baucom Agricultural Officer USAID Bridgetown

Washington D.C.

Hartford T. Jennings Office of International Development Assistance

Bureau of International Organization Affairs

Department of State

James Butcher Washington D.C. Programme Leader - Binational Programmes

U.S. Department of Agriculture

David W. Anderson Miami
Caribbean Representative for the Animal
and Plant Health
Inspection Service (APHIS; USDA)

Douglas Jerome Brown Washington D.C.
Office of International Cooperation and
Development - USDA

#### PAISES BAJOS - THE NETHERLANDS - PAYS-BAS

Ton A.I.M. Comen

The Haque

Head\_FAO Department

Ministry of Agriculture and Fisheries

## REINO UNIDO - UNITED KINGDOM - ROYAUME-UNI

Edwin A. Wyrley-Birch

Bridgetown

Acting Natural Resources Adviser British Development Division in the Caribbean

## SANTA SEDE - HOLY SEE - SAINT-SIEGE

Richard Guilly

Bridgetown

Claudia Johnson

Bridgetown

REPRESENTANTES DE LAS NACIONES UNIDAS Y ORGANISMOS ESPECIALIZADOS REPRESENTATIVES OF THE UNITED NATIONS AND SPECIALIZED AGENCIES REPRESENTANTS DES NATIONS UNIES ET INSTITUTIONS SPECIALISEES

COMISION ECONOMICA PARA AMERICA LATINA Y EL CARIBE (CEPALC) ECONOMIC COMMISSION FOR LATIN AMERICA AND THE CARIBBEAN (ECLAC) COMMISSION ECONOMIQUE POUR L'AMERIQUE LATINE ET LES CARAIBES (CEPALC)

Norberto González Secretario Ejecutivo Santiago

Clyde C. Applewhite

Port-of-Spain

Director

FONDO DE LAS NACIONES UNIDAS PARA LA INFANCIA (UNICEF) UNITED NATIONS CHILDREN'S FUND (UNICEF) FOND DES NATIONS UNIES POUR L'ENFANCE (FISE)

Tessa Chaderton

Christ Church

Assistant Programme Officer

PROGRAMA MUNDIAL DE ALIMENTOS (PMA) WORLD FOOD PROGRAMME (WFP) PROGRAMME ALIMENTAIRE MONDIAL (PAM)

Maurizio Gnocchi Rome Chief, Latin America and Caribbean Branch Project Management Division

Jean-Jaques Vandamme Representative a.i.

Bridgetown

Oscar Fernández

Rome

Programme Management Officer

PROGRAMA DE LAS NACIONES UNIDAS PARA EL DESARROLLO

UNITED NATIONS DEVELOPMENT PROGRAMME (UNDP) PROGRAMME DES NATIONS UNIES POUR LE DEVELOPPEMENT (PNUD)

Michael Gucovsky

New York

Deputy Assistant Administrator and Deputy Director

Regional Bureau for tatin America and the Caribbean

Gustavo Toro

Bridgetown

Resident Representative a.i.

ORGANIZACION DE LAS NACIONES UNIDAS PARA EL DESARROLLO INDUSTRIAL (ONUDI) UNITED NATIONS INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT ORGANIZATION (UNIDO) ORGANISATION DES NATIONS UNIES POUR LE DEVELOPPEMENT INDUSTRIEL (Iduno)

Peter Ryan Field Adviser

Bridgetown

ORGANIZACION MUNDIAL DEL TRABAJO INTERNATIONAL LABOUR ORGANISATION (ILO) ORGANISATION INTERNATIONALE DU TRAVAIL (011)

Francis Oliver

Port-of-Spain

Director

Caribbean Office

Margaret D. Gill

Port-of-Spain

Associate Expert on Employment Policies

BANCO MUNDIAL - WORLD BANK - BANQUE MONDIALE

Teketel Haile-Mariam

Washington D.C.

Economist

ORGANIZACION MUNDIAL DE LA SALUD (OMS)/ORGANIZACION PANAMERICANA DE LA SALUD (PAHO) WORLD HEALTH ORGANIZATION (WHO)/PAN-AMERICAN HEALTH ORGANIZATION (PAHO) ORGANISATION MONDIALE DE LA SANTE (OMS)/ORGANISATION PANAMERICAINE DE LA SANTE (PAHO)

Loren Will

Bridgetown

Àdviser on Veterinary Public Health in

the Caribbean

Programme Coordination Office

(CEE) COMUNIDAD ECONOMICA EUROPEA EUROPEAN ECONOMIC COMMISSION (EEC) COMMUNAUTE ECONOMIQUE EUROPEENNE

Joannes Ter Haar

Bridgetown

Delegate in Barbados and Eastern Caribbean

E.A. Dixon

Bridgetown

Agriculture Advisor

OBSERVADORES DE LAS ORGANIZACIONES INTERGUBERNAMENTALES OBSERVERS FROM INTERGOVERNMENTAL ORGANIZATIONS OBSERVATEURS DES ORGANISATIONS INTERGOUVERNEMENTALES

BANCO INTERAMERICANO DE DESARROLLO (IDB) INTER-AMERICAN DEVELOPMENT BANK BANQUE INTERAMERICAINE DE DEVELOPPEMENT (BID)

Daniel Robinson

Bridgetown

Representative

John C. Yates

Bridgetown

Sectoral Specialist

CENTRO AGRONOMICO TROPICAL DE INVESTIGACION Y ENSENANZA (CATIE)

TROPICAL AGRICULTURAL RESEARCH AND TRAINING CENTRE

CENTRE AGRONOMIQUE TROPICAL DE RECHERCHE ET D'ENSEIGNEMENT

Arnaldo Chibbaro Turrialba Jefe de Cooperación Técnica y Financiera

CORPORACION ANDINA DE FOMENTO (CAF) ANDEAN DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION (ADC) SOCIETE ANDINE DE DEVELOPPEMENT (SAD)

Francisco Rojo Programa Desrrollo Rural

Caracas

INSTITUTO INTERAMERICANO DE COOPERACION PARA

LA AGRICULTURA (IICA)

INTER-AMERICAN INSTITUTE FOR COOPERATION ON AGRICULTURE

INSTITUT INTERAMERICAIN DE COOPERATION POUR L'AGRICULTURE

Martín E. Piñeiro

San José

Director General

Rodolfo E. Quiroz

Director - Programa de Comercialización

y Agroindustria

Jorge Werthein

San José

Director Relaciones Exteriores

Reginald Pierre

Castries

Director

Franz M. Alexander

Georgetown

Animal Health Institute

JUNTA DEL ACUERDO DE CARTAGENA BOARD OF THE CARTAGENA AGREEMENT CONSEIL DE L'ACCORD DE CARTAGENE

Pablo Quevedo Rodríquez Lima Jefe del Departamento de Desarrollo Agropecuario

ORGANIZACION DE LOS ESTADOS AMERICANOS (OEA) ORGANIZATION OF AMERICAN STATES (OAS) ORGANISATION DES ETATS AMERICAINS (OEA)

Eustace Gulston Kingstown Chief, Natural Resources Management Project Department of Regional Development III

ORGANIZACION DE ESTADOS DEL CARIBE ORIENTAL (ODECA) ORGANIZATION OF EASTERN CARIBBEAN STATES (0ECS)

Laurence Wells

St. John's

Chief, Sector Polices & Planning

SISTEMA ECONOMICO LATINOAMERICANO (SELA) LATIN AMERICAN ECONOMIC SYSTEM (SELA) SYSTEME ECONOMIQUE LATINO-AMERICAIN (SELA)

Misael Medina Satine Caracas Jefe de Proyectos de Cooperación Regional

Arturo Goetz

Buenos Aires

Secretario del Comité de Acción Seguridad Alimentaria Regional

CARIBBEAN COMMUNITY SECRETARIAT (CARICOM)

Hayden Blades

Georgetown

Director, Trade and Agriculture Secretariat

Chesney Arlington

Port-of-Spain

Managing Director

Nigel Durrant

Georgetown

Calixte George

Castries

Dep. Executive Director

Gerald Proverbs

Forde St. Claire

Bridgetown

Head of Unit - CARDI

St. Augustine

Director of Research

Kingsley Thomas Manager Projects Port-of-Spain

BANCO DEL DESARROLLO DEL CARIBE

CARIBBEAN DEVELOPMENT BANK
BANQUE DE DEVELOPPEMENT DES CARAIBES

Bernard Yankey

Bridgetown

Director, Agricultural Division

Arnold M. Cruikshank Senior Manager Agriculture/Industry Division

Bridgetown

OBSERVADORES DE ORGANIZACIONES NO
GUBERNAMENTALES
OBSERVERS FROM NON-GOVERNMENTAL
ORGANIZATIONS
OBSERVATEURS DES ORGANISATIONS NON
GOUVERNEMENTALES

### CARIBBEAN FARMER'S CONGRESS

Ram Madho

Port-of-Spain

President

CONFEDERACION INTERNACIONAL DE ORGANIZACIONES
SINDICALES LIBRES (CIOSL)
INTERNATIONAL CONFEDERATION OF FREETRADE UNIONS
CONFEDERATION INTERNATIONALE DES SYNDICATS LIBRES

# INTERNATIONAL FEDERATION OF PLANTATION, AGRICULTURAL AND ALLIED WORKERS

Kertist Augustus

Bridgetown

Secretary Treasurer

FEDERACION SINDICAL MUNDIAL (FSM)
WORLD FEDERATION OF TRADE UNIONS (WFTU)
FEDERATION SYNDICALE MONDIALE (FSM)

Ceferino Sánchez

La Kabana

Member of Secretariat

# CONFERENCE SECRETARIAT/SECRETARIA DE LA CONFERENCIA/ SECRETARIAT DE LA GONFERENCE

Conference Secretary

G. ROCA

Press Officers:

H. TOROS

Conference Officer

B. LINLEY

E. GONZALEZ REGUEIRA

Reports Officer

N. FRIGERIO

C. FORNARI

## FAO STAFF/FUNCIONARIOS DE LA FAO/FONCTIONNAIRES DE LA FAO

Edouard SAOUMA Director-General

M.E. JALIL Assistant Director-General Regional Representative for Latin America and the Caribbean

S. ARAUJO Deputy Regional Representative, RLAC

N. ISLAM Assistant Director-General, ES

F. CAMPILLO (Ms)
Programme Officer, ESHW

B. CHAKALALL Regional Fisheries Officer, RLAC

F. FUENZALIDA Regional Senior Economist, RLAC

F. HENDERSON Chief, Inland Fisheries and Aquaculture Service, FI

G. HUGGINS
Regional Rural Development Officer
RLAC

H. JASIOROWSKI Director, AGA

T. LOPEZ-RAMIREZ
Officer-in-Charge, Regional Bureau
for Latin America and the Caribbean
DDFL

R. MORENO Director, ESH

C.H. MURRAY Directeur de Cabinet, ODG

H. SANTA CRUZ Senior Consultant to Director-General

H. SCHMID (Ms)
Information Systems Officer, GIL

V.J. SHAH Director, PBE

M. VATTER
Acting Chief, Regional Operations
Services, Latin America and the
Caribbean, AGOL

F. ZENNY FAO Representative in Barbados

## APPENDIX C

## LIST OF DOCUMENTS

LARC/86 Series	
LARC/86/1	Provisional Annotated Agenda
LARC/86/2	FAO Activities in the Region, including Action taken on the Main Recommendations of the 18th Regional Conference
LARC/86/3	Programme of Work and Budget 1986-87 in the Region
LARC/86/4	Role of Women in Rural Development
LARC/86/5	Helping the Small Farmer
LARC/86/6	Problems affecting agricultural development in the Small Island States of the Caribbean
LARC/86/7	Aquaculture and Rural Development
LARC/86/8	Livestock Development Policies and Regional Cooperation in Latin America and the Caribbean
LARC/86/9	Representation of the Region on the Consultative Group on International Agricultural Research (CGIAR)
LARC/86/INF/Series	
LARC/86/INF/1	Information Note
LARC/86/INF/2	Provisional Timetable
LARC/86/INF/3	Provisional List of Documents
LARC/86/INF/4	Background Paper on Food and Agricultural Situation in Latin America and the Caribbean
LARC/86/INF/5	Note on the Forestry and Fisheries Sectors in the Small Island States of the Caribbean
LARC/86/INF/6 Rev.2	Provisional List of Participants
LARC/86/INF/7	Timetable of the Technical Committee
LARC/86/INF/8	Report of the Round Table on problems affecting agricultural development in the Small Island States of the Caribbean
LARC/86/INF/9	Report of the Technical Committee

## LARC/86/OD Series

LARC/86/OD/1 to LARC/86/OD/7

Orders of the Day

## LARC/86/REP Series

LARC/86/TC/REP/1 to LARC/86/TC/REP/4

Draft Report of the Technical Committee

LARC/86/REP/1

Draft Report of Plenary

APPENDIX D

# STATEMENT BY THE ACTING PRIME MINISTER AND MINISTER OF EDUCATION AND CULTURE OF BARBADOS

Director-General, Honourable Ministers, Heads of Delegations, Ladies and Gentlemen,

Prime Minister Barrow has asked me to apologise for his inability to address you this morning. He has had to attend to Government business overseas, and left Barbados for it, over the weekend.

Today's meeting in Barbados is the fulfilment of an undertaking some two years ago by the then Government of Barbados. At the 18th Regional Conference of the FAO for Latin America and the Caribbean, it was agreed that Barbados would host this, the 19th Regional Conference. We accept that responsibility gladly.

On behalf of the Government and people of Barbados, I extend a very warm welcome to you. We hope that you will experience an environment that will be conducive to both work and recreation.

This conference is being held when the world is emerging from deep recession. The most recent economic recovery in the developed countries which began in the year 1984 has only touched marginally, some developing countries. Of course, we welcome the trend towards recovery. But at the same time, we note that developing countries remain confronted by severe socio-economic pressures. Our agricultural sector, like the other sectors of our economies, which have been hard hit by the recession, has not been spared.

In many of our countries during the past twenty years, the basic trade balance has deteriorated from surplus to an increasing deficit. Instead of contributing to foreign exchange the agricultural sector has been making increasing demands on any surplus generated by productive sectors.

As we seek to trace the origins of our problems, a general picture of handicaps emerges, including high international interest rates, fluctuating exchange rates, trade restrictions, protectionism, adverse terms of trade, and scarce investment funds.

The magnitude of the strain on regional economies is reflected in regional balance-of-payments problems, the inability to service foreign debt comfortably, a weakening in the potential and capacity of regional Governments to get employment-generating projects into place, and the adverse cost/price structure of producing agricultural goods.

We note that regional agricultural products, particularly primary goods, continue to be confronted by falling commodity prices and rising protectionism in several of the industrialized countries.

All of this places us in an extremely disadvantageous situation. For, without exception, the countries of this region need to increase export earnings not only to meet growing debt service commitments, but also to facilitate the financing of their development programmes.

At the domestic level, a large section of our populations depends directly or indirectly upon agriculture, fishing, forestry and related

pursuits, for their day-to-day survival. When agriculture fails our countries fail, as evidenced, for example, by heavy dependence on two typical monocrops, namely bananas and sugar.

It may be easy to censure us for perpetuating the monocrops and to recommend the diversification of agriculture. But this is far easier said than done, especially in the smaller countries. The problem of securing and maintaining markets remains real. The range of possible enterprises is limited. Buyers in the developed society are adept at trading one small tenuous economy against the other to theirs, the buyers', full advantage. So we have concluded that the salient component of a development strategy for agriculture is fair trade.

It is therefore regrettable to note that some of the rhetorical benefits extended under the Caribbean Basin Initiative are becoming evanescent including a diminution of import quotas for Caribbean sugar.

Developed countries still expect to receive primary produce from developing countries at minimal cost for processing, and to re-export at highly inflated prices. It is extremely difficult to rationalise the relationship between the cost of primary product exports and the so-called finished product which eventually returns to the supermarket shelves of primary producing countries.

Whereas the price to the farmer has remained steady or has been increased by some small factor, the housewife must pay for the packaged product, an enormous sum, very often way out of proportion to the value added factor.

Perhaps our first thrust in this regard must be seriously to contain our large food import bill through the promotion of our own manufacturers and products on local and regional supermarket shelves. We will need to, through planned and sustained effort, to orient and in some instances, re-orient the palates of our people towards domestic products. We may need to intensify efforts for regional food security.

The stranger to our shores may still point to the need for us to develop more efficient food production techniques, to explore the feasibility of canning processes, and better storage conditions.

The role of the small farmer will come into sharp focus. And that small farmer will advance legitimate claims for a practical package which includes reasonable access to land, training, irrigation facilities, and not least of all finance, to form the basis for viability.

Among our people too, one may reasonably expect that fishing and fish products would not only provide protein for populations, but that some of the countries would be well placed to export their surplus. What, however, is the scenario? Fishing fleets of some of the major maritime powers literally scrape the sea bed and ocean floor of our Territorial or Exclusive Economic Zone. Countries of this region continue to see their fishing stocks depleted and their marine life threatened by maritime pirates and poachers whose added advantage is their ability and propensity to sell us, island people, cockles and mussels and more.

The spectre of dumping is always a real threat to our economies. Dumping is severe enough when the goods are of acceptable quality, reprehensible though the practice must be. But where the dumped product has been banned in the home country for whatever reason, including health, but "flogged" in an unsuspecting country at a high price, such action is, in our view, totally unacceptable.

I am also concerned about another tendency which seems to be gathering momentum on the international scene. I speak of the growing threat to multilateralism. After World War Two the founding fathers of international organizations accepted that the system of secret bilateral treaties and agreements between countries involving trade and other questions was partly responsible for the war.

They agreed therefore that this system would be replaced by new relationships in which all countries could participate as equals in reaching agreement on major questions confronting mankind.

Unfortunately, nearly half a century later there is evidence of attempts to dismantle these multilateral agreements. The evidence is surely perceptible when you examine the obstacles placed in the way of international funding agencies established by mutual agreements between sovereign states and which are in some instances binding at international law. Is it not strange that these destructive efforts have been particularly pronounced in institutions capable of providing significant developmental assistance to developing countries?

One agency has even developed a mechanism by which countries like Barbados may be graduated from its technical assistance programmes. This mechanism is supposed to prove that my country has no need of aid. It is based on factors which do not and cannot truly reflect the level of development in Barbados.

There are other countries in this region which face a similar situation; yet we know that in many of them, the factors used to measure that level of development can change dramatically due to circumstances beyond our control.

We all know of the threats from certain agencies to withhold loans on concessional terms to countries like Barbados. There are countries in our region with endowments superior by every system of measurement to Barbados which, using the criteria developed, would permit them to receive loans on concessional terms while Barbados is debarred from such assistance.

You are all aware of the struggle in FAO, as some developed states seek to destroy one of the most important programmes ever to be operated in the United Nations System. The Technical Cooperation Programme through which developing countries may be afforded quick assistance in emergencies, and with the minimum of red tape, is in jeopardy. And may I suggest that it is in the interest of all developing countries to ensure that efforts to further frustrate the work of the FAO do not succeed.

The concerns that I have expressed today lead me to make the following further observation. It is this: while we witness attempts to destroy the system of multilateralism inherent in the Charter of the United Nations, there is an aspect of that document that points us towards a future in which we might well be able, mutually, to assist each other. I refer to the provision

in the Charter for regional arrangements. These provisions recognize the inherent right of countries to meet in their own region to address social, political and economic problems special to their area and common to all or almost all of the Nation States therein.

At best, our countries may only cushion the impact of external influences by pursuing structural adjustment programmes, as have been recently witnessed in the Caribbean area.

It will be even more necessary to lobby for greater access to markets in the industrial countries, and to seek the relaxation of trade protectionism which is hampering regional agricultural production.

The region appreciates the role of the FAO in promoting its interest, in this regard. This meeting will, no doubt, identify ways in which the region and the FAO can further work to strengthen the relationship and mutual interest that exist among us.

Indeed, the Buenos Aires Conference on Technical Cooperation among Developing Countries and the Plan of Action adopted at the time, certainly create a concept which provides for cooperation between developing countries.

It should therefore be easy for Latin America and the Caribbean region, with the potential for ingenuity so evident among our people, to widen and deepen the possibilities which do exist for other forms of mutual cooperation. Moreover, I cannot see why this new approach to cooperation cannot begin immediately. For example, I would urge that with the help of FAO, measures might be devised to isolate and eradicate animal diseases which inhibit trade in livestock produce between countries of the region. Similar action to eradicate harmful fruit flies could result in this region being able to satisfy all its requirements for fruit.

There is no doubt about the potential of Latin America and the Caribbean as a region; and, it is certainly within our regional capability to mobilize the will and devise the mechanisms for establishing its true place among the nations of the world.

The future of our region will depend to a large extent on our capacity to make the necessary effort to cooperate, and to concentrate and organize those efforts so as to reach the global objective of economic and social advancement.

What is needed is a combination of imagination and realism to turn stumbling blocks into pillars for development.

Our own individual efforts to develop our respective agricultural sectors would be inadequate if they are not accompanied by significant regional cooperation.

In spite of your heavy work-schedule, I hope that you will find time to enjoy what Barbados has traditionally offered visitors.

I now have great pleasure in declaring the 19th Regional Conference of FAO for Latin America and the Caribbean open.

Thank you!

#### STATEMENT BY THE DIRECTOR-GENERAL TO THE PLENARY

Mr Chairman,

This is the second occasion on which the FAO Regional Conference has been held in the Caribbean, a clear pointer to the growing importance of countries in this part of the world. Moreover, this Nineteenth Regional Conference is being hosted by a state which has a symbolic significance for the rest of the region, Barbados being one of the young countries which have most impressed the region and the rest of the world by their maturity and wisdom. It is a dynamic country, very representative of authentic Caribbean culture. I take great pleasure, therefore, in thanking the Government and people of Barbados for inviting us to hold the Conference here.

Mr Chairman, in electing you, the Barbadian Minister of Agriculture, the Conference undoubtedly wished to pay tribute to your country as well as to express its recognition of your personal qualities. If my congratulations, Your Excellency, are particularly warm, it is because I well remember the ability you displayed on the occasion of your visit to Rome. I should also like to commend the splendid way in which the Conference has been organized. I might add that behind the much appreciated efficiency we have all caught a glimpse of your country's famous charm.

This Conference opens in a particularly difficult economic and financial climate. After forty years of progress in the region, per caput gross income started to decline in 1981. Since then there has been a general downturn in economic activity; public expenditure has fallen, inflation has frequently soared out of control, and the terms of trade have taken a marked turn for the worse. Almost everywhere conditions are becoming harsher, purchasing power is being eroded, unemployment has spread and malnutrition is again on the rise.

One major problem, though, overshadows everything else - the external debt. You will not need reminding that it now totals 400 thousand million dollars for the Latin America and Caribbean region alone, or that servicing it absorbs nearly 50 percent of export revenues. In fact, poor countries are now net exporters of capital; the outflow from Latin America over the last four years amounts to 100 thousand million dollars, equivalent to eight years of net inflows before the crisis. Unfortunately, this is a picture with which we are all too familiar.

In an effort to regain their financial equilibrium, countries in the region have been forced to agree to some extremely tough conditions, often dictated by their creditors. They have had to embark on austerity measures which have made life intolerable for the very poor. Investment has had to be slashed, thereby compromising the chances of sustained long-term recovery; and most of the available resources have had to be diverted to the export sector.

In return, countries have obtained new lines of credit. But is this really a solution? Will these new loans not go mainly toward financing the debt, thus extending its burden indefinitely? I am appalled at the thought that every child in the region is in debt from the moment it is born, and will remain in debt until the day it dies.

I therefore wonder whether these policies are not short-sighted. Admittedly the immediate concern is to prevent a default of debtor nations

that would spark off a major banking crisis. But do existing financial policies not also constitute a threat to the economies of the richest countries? Do they not shut down export markets and slam the door on new investment in Latin America? A million workers in the United States have already been thrown out of work following the slump in exports to Latin America. In the final analysis the message is clear; wealthy countries are just as much victims of the debt as debtor countries.

It is not for me to suggest ways of resolving the problem, but my involvement in development issues in this part of the world compels me to plead for a different approach. In the richer countries there are already encouraging signs that in some political circles radical solutions to the problem are no longer regarded as heresy. Maybe the tide has begun to turn at last.

Mr Chairman,

We all know that the general economic crisis has dealt a heavy blow to agriculture. The vigorous growth of the seventies has ground to a halt in the eighties. Worst hit have been the most dynamic enterprises - the very ones which had made most effort to invest and modernize.

The main shock has come from export markets. Tumbling world prices, shrinking demand from importing countries and creeping protectionism have combined to throttle expansion of the region's traditional exports. Unfortunately it looks as though these constraints are here to stay, despite the temporary improvement predicted this year in the price of some export commodities.

Structural adjustments and the financial crisis have both contributed to agriculture's difficulties. Rising import costs brought about by devaluation, have had immediate repercussions on the price of agricultural inputs, machinery and equipment. The credit clampdown has checked agricultural investment and undermined efforts at modernization. And the brake on subsidies and public expenditure has further aggravated the situation.

Paradoxically, it is the smallest farmers who have been least affected. They supply most of the traditional staples, and being less dependent on the outside they have been able to maintain their production levels. Thanks to them the worst has been avoided. This does not mean that their economic situation has improved - far from it. Inflation and a lack of other job outlets have conspired to make them even poorer. Their problems remain the same as always. If their true economic importance were now to be recognized, the crisis would at least have achieved something.

It has also highlighted the need to improve national farm policies, reform unsatisfactory agricultural structures, boost productivity and strengthen food security.

Above all, the crisis has exposed the vulnerability of the region's economies with regard to foreign markets. One of the few solutions possible is to strengthen regional economic integration; otherwise the disparity between the partners in North-South talks on agricultural commodities will persist, and regional trade will continue to be disrupted by agricultural surpluses dumped by the North.

Mr Chairman,

As usual, the Conference will be studying the Technical Committee's conclusions on various important matters affecting the region as a whole. I should now like to run briefly over the main themes.

The first relates to the agricultural development of the small Caribbean island states. Here in Barbados we might be said to be "in the field", so we shall discuss this subject with special interest. The document you have received identifies one major problem in particular; the economic vulnerability of these countries. There are no easy solutions, but some countries have shown that agriculture could be diversified so as to produce both food crops and high-earning export crops. Fostering agricultural development in this context requires joint strategies supported by regional organizations such as CARICOM or the Organization of Eastern Caribbean States.

The next two subjects are closely linked; the role of women in agricultural development, and assistance for small farmers. In reviewing the general situation I have already emphasized the importance of small-scale agriculture. By examining the role of women at the same time you will be taking into account one of its main dimensions, since the problem of small-scale farming is very closely linked with that of the condition of women.

The last two items relate to important sectoral problems. The first concerns regional cooperation in the field of animal husbandry, a traditional activity in Latin America which is being forced to adapt to new demands. The best response is undoubtedly to increase productivity and to improve intra and inter-regional marketing channels. Here the regional cooperation networks provide far and away the most suitable framework for action.

The sectoral problem concerns aquaculture, a significant activity in other regions but relatively little known in Latin America and the Caribbean. It has definite potential, but it does pose considerable initial difficulties, particularly for small producers. A sound marketing base and facilities for intensive technical training are needed if aquaculture is really to take off.

Mr Chairman,

These problems and possibilities require us to take a close look at the future of cooperation between us.

We have already made a promising start. My colleague Mr Jalil, the FAO Regional Representative, will be taking stock of the Organization's activities in Latin America and the Caribbean. They show a satisfying diversity and scope, and I am glad to see that some of them — the meetings on fisheries and animal health, for example — have made a notable contribution to strengthening regional cooperation.

However, FAO has, as you know, had to cope with emergencies elsewhere in the world. And here I should like to thank the countries of the region for agreeing to the Organization devoting substantial resources to the critical situation in Africa: a proof of solidarity which deserves to be applauded. Nevertheless, it is important that FAO maintain its capacity to intervene promptly in your region whenever the occasion demands, and the strength of our Organization's commitment is illustrated by two recent examples.

The first is the large-scale international campaign against the tropical cattle tick, which transmits two diseases posing a serious threat to animal production in much of the western hemisphere, including the Caribbean and the United States. FAO is ready to play a central role in preparing a feasibility study on ways of eradicating this parasite from the Caribbean. We have received an official request from CARICOM, and I hope that it will be possible to initiate the study in the very near future, in collaboration with other interested bodies.

The second example is the action being taken to strengthen facilities for training agricultural planners. The Government of Italy has generously offered more than 6.3 million dollars over five years to fund this programme, and has agreed with the Argentine Government that the headquarters should be in Buenos Aires. I recently wrote to all member countries in the region informing them of the programme, and I invite them to be represented at a meeting to be held at the FAO Regional Office on 23 and 24 September 1986. If all goes well, the project should be underway within a few months.

We must also look further ahead, though. I am aware that Latin America and the Caribbean are now facing a completely new situation. The crisis cannot be shrugged off overnight — its roots go too deep. This makes it even more important to investigate new approaches to development, particularly with regard to cooperation with FAO.

The process of adaption involves giving a great deal of thought to current agricultural development problems. The policies pursued over the last few decades have not been an unqualified success, and it behoves us to ask why. We also need to take a hard look at long-term prospects for rural development in the region. Is poverty inevitably going to be the salient feature of rural societies by the turn of the century? Are countries irrevocably condemned to mounting food dependency and shrinking export markets? This is certainly not my view; such pessimism is quite unwarranted when one considers this continent's tremendous potential.

The region is already one of the world's major producers of wheat, meat, sugar, coffee and other agricultural commodities. For some products it ranks with the major developed countries, and this importance is likely to grow over the next few decades.

According to FAO projections, nearly two-thirds of the land brought under cultivation in the world between now and the year 2000 will be on this continent. That gives some idea of how great its reserves are, and the region has extensive forestry and fishery resources as well.

The continent could develop into one of the planet's major suppliers by boosting production of all its agricultural commodities, but first it must overcome the obstacle of its weak trading position. The region is in direct competition with some of the giants of agricultural production, and unfortunately it is not yet strong enough to combat successfully the protectionist barriers raised against its farm exports and the subsidies on commodities such as cereals, meat and sugar which compete with its own produce.

There seems little doubt that the future of this part of the world will depend on its ability to organize its trade and to defend itself. In the long run there is no other choice but to strengthen regional agreements and, dare I say it, to set up a common market. I know this is an old dream, but dreams

give us the incentive to persevere. The trade agreement that Brazil and Argentina have just signed is a particularly hopeful omen. After all, the European Economic Community was born in the same way, out of an initial agreement between two countries.

There is, then, a force pulsating through the region. We must determine its contours, assess its dimensions and understand its limitations if we are to come up with the right policies for future agricultural development. What does this mean in practice? A most interesting proposal has been made by your Representatives in Rome. They have suggested that the time may have come for FAO to carry out a specific study on the long-term development of Latin America and the Caribbean. After some reflection a few preliminary guidelines have emerged. The study would be addressed chiefly to regional policy-makers and the international community. It would make an objective evaluation of past experience, and then try to assess the potential for development over the next 25 years. It would be conducted in close association with other international organizations involved in the development of the region, and would make use of the work they have already carried out. The core of the study would consist of a plan of action embracing not only long-term programmes but also policies of more immediate relevance.

I must admit that the suggestion appeals to me. I believe it would provide a response to today's problems, without sacrificing the necessary objectivity. I am therefore ready to commit FAO to this undertaking, should you so wish. As you know, FAO is always at your disposal, and by far the most important task of its Regional Office and of its numerous Representatives in the region is to provide you with support.

## Mr Chairman,

In bringing my intervention to a close, I realize that it has mostly been taken up by the economic crisis and its consequences. This would be a source of worry and doubt to me did I not see some hope on the horizon. Whatever damage the crisis may have brought, it has also kindled the fierce pride of Latin America and the Caribbean, bringing out the very best in its people. Progress that was unimaginable just a short while ago is now under way. Some countries have confounded outside opinion by successfully combating inflation, industries have carved themselves a niche in the world markets, and societies are demonstrating increasing political maturity. These are the reasons for my optimism. For nearly two centuries, your region has astonished the world over and over again. I am sure it will continue to do so.

I thank you for your attention and wish you every success in your work.

#### REPORT OF THE TECHNICAL COMMITTEE

(Barbados, 5 - 8 August 1986)

## I. INTRODUCTION

1. The Technical Committee met in Sam Lord's Castle Resort in St. Philip, Barbados, from 5 to 8 August 1986.

# Opening of the Technical Committee

- 2. At the opening session of the Technical Committee the Assistant Director-General, FAO Regional Representative for Latin America and the Caribbean, Mr Mario E. Jalil, took the floor and on behalf of the Director-General of FAO, Mr Edouard Saouma, and in his own name, welcomed delegates of the Latin American and Caribbean countries and observers from various organizations, and expressed appreciation of the generous hospitality extended by the Government and people of Barbados.
- 3. He emphasized the importance of the items which, in consultation with the countries themselves, had been selected for discussion by the Technical Committee, noting that the relevant technical documents had been distributed before the meeting.

### Election of Officers

- 4. The Committee unanimously elected Clifton Maynard, Permanent Secretary, Ministry of Agriculture, Food and Fisheries of Barbados, as Chairman, and the Permanent Representative of Brazil to FAO, Ambassador Octavio Rainho Neves, and the Representative of the Ministry of Agriculture of Ecuador, Mr Jorge N. Muñoz as Vice-Chairmen. The Permanent Representative of Peru to FAO, Ambassador Javier Gazzo Fernández, was elected Rapporteur.
- 5. The Chairman of the Technical Committee, Mr Clifton Maynard, on behalf of his country, expressed his appreciation of his appointment and welcomed delegates and observers.

### Adoption of the Agenda and Timetable

6. The Committee adopted the Agenda and Timetable, with the comment that Item 6, "Problems Affecting Agricultural Development in the Small Island States of the Caribbean", would be discussed in a Round Table of the Member Nations directly concerned, which would also be open to any other delegations that wishes to attend.

#### II. TECHNICAL ITEMS

### The Role of Women in Rural Development

7. The Secretariat, in its presentation of this item, stressed that FAO had, as requested by the countries of the Region, focused on the special problems of women's integration into the process of food production and their participation in rural development. The current situation of rural women in Latin America and the Caribbean was reviewed. Women's contribution to agricultural production was described. Also highlighted were the constraints

to more active, effective, women's participation in development and the problems raised by urban growth, farm modernization and the persistence of rural poverty. FAO and government action, progress and experience in favour of rural women in development were reviewed. A mosaic of strategy components underpinning the adoption of policies and programmes targeted at rural women was presented.

- 8. The Committee expressed its thanks to the Director-General of FAO for including this item on the Agenda of the Regional Conference, in line with the suggestions and recommendations adopted by the 1985 Conference of FAO.
- 9. The Committee expressed its appreciation of the document before it, endorsed its priorities and commented on the progress of the UN Decade for Women and Development, citing the greater awareness, more acute conceptual approach to the issue, and increased funds earmarked for action to solve the problems identified. Many delegations, however, held that progress in other aspects had been minimal during the Decade, and a clearly defined conceptual framework was therefore needed to give this item muscle.
- 10. The various interventions by delegations described progress made within their countries in integrating women into rural development programmes.
- 11. The Committee agreed there was a need for more information on such aspects of women's role in development as specifically national features of the problem, current legislation, the statistical data gap on rural women (both coverage and quality), and unique situations such as those of indigenous women.
- 12. The Committee expressed its support for the line of work developed by FAO in its integrated approach to the problem of women and its acknowledgement of their plural and simultaneous role in the home, the workplace and the community.
- 13. The Committee acknowledged FAO's action in support of exchanges of experience among the various countries of the Region and suggested that these activities should continue to be reinforced by new activities, as should studies to provide a better understanding of the situation of rural women.
- 14. The Committee suggested that a determined effort should continue to be made in applied research on energy sources for household and farm tasks, on appropriate technology to simplify women's work in the home, and on simple agro-industrial techniques for food production and processing.
- 15. Training was considered one of the major tools for improving the present status of rural women. The Committee noted FAO's activities to support the countries in this matter, and suggested that FAO reinforce technical, administrative, entrepreneurial and social training for rural women in its programmes and projects. The Committee also emphasized the need for Governments to provide literacy training for rural women.
- 16. Concerning legal constraints on rural women, the Committee supported the document's recommendation that women be guaranteed access to the ownership and administration of land and the inputs and resources needed for its exploitation, in those countries where this had not yet been done. The Committee also suggested to governments and FAO that they, along with the necessary technical back-up services of other agencies such as the International Labour Office, look further into the impact on women of discriminatory applications

and interpretations of civil, penal and labour (as well as agrarian reform) legislation, including those laws which on paper apply equally to women and men but which in practice do not. This equality should be clearly stated in the working of such laws.

- 17. The Committee took note of the observation by one delegation that land tenure and membership in rural associations of an economic nature should be granted to the couple where applicable, i.e. where the couple was the recipient unit. The same delegation observed that common-law marriages should be recognized as valid for the above purposes so as to guarantee the rights of both members of the couple and their children. With the expressed reservation of one delegation, the Committee deemed it advisable to look further into this matter, except in those countries where such problems had already been successfully dealt with.
- 18. The Committee suggested further study of the consequences of female migration on demographic age structures, because female migration had a detrimental and much more acute impact on the economic and family unit (sometimes to the point of breakdown of the unit) than did male migration. It was suggested that FAO might be able to propose ways to halt this migration.
- 19. Various delegations, in suggesting ways to better the present state of knowledge on the problems of rural women, underscored the need for FAO to take a close look at the situation in Caribbean countries, where the role of women in urban and rural areas had a number of features unique within the Region. The Committee expressed its appreciation for the contribution which would be offered by the Technical Cooperation Programme Project on the Integration of Women in Agricultural and Rural Development in English-speaking Caribbean Countries. This project, scheduled to start soon, would afford an opportunity for all English-speaking island countries to exchange experiences and information and analyze the issue from a sub-regional standpoint.
- 20. The Committee stressed the need to ensure the permanent integration of women into all livestock production, agro-forestry, fisheries, marketing, financing and other such rural development projects, as established by Resolution 12/85 on rural women approved by the Conference of FAO in 1985.
- 21. Some delegations recommended that FAO pay particular attention to the part played by women in marketing agricultural products, and that the Organization support activities which tended to generate income and employment for rural women.
- 22. The Committee particularly emphasized the importance of ensuring, from their very inception, the participation of rural women in the conceptualization, design, planning and evaluation of projects of which women were the intended beneficiaries.
- 23. Some delegations requested FAO technical assistance in the identification and formulation of projects, and in getting the resources and developing the activities needed to enhance the participation of women in rural development. The Committee took note of and expressed its appreciation for the opportunity afforded by the planned Sub-Regional Workshop on the Design and Formulation of Projects to Assist Rural Women in Food Production Activities, to be held in Panama City in December 1986.

- 24. The Committee asked that FAO and the other UN agencies intensify their consideration of problems of housing, health, roads and transportation and the other social aspects of rural communities. Adequate funding and integrated action were required.
- 25. One delegation stated that technical staff should travel to rural areas to impart indigenous technologies to rural women and that there should be exchanges of visits among rural women from other countries within the Region. While rural women had been the main producers of food, engaged in the back-breaking task of working in the fields, their contribution had gone unnoticed. It was therefore recommended that the organizations of the United Nations System, including FAO, attach high priority to the following issues, within their respective mandates:
  - (a) the provision of proper transportation for rural women workers to and from home and plantation;
  - (b) mobile toilet facilities and other necessary services at or near the plantations;
  - (c) proper storage facilities for their tools to be stored at their work sites.
- 26. The Committee reiterated its support for the leading role played by FAO in rural development within the UN system, and suggested the Organization take an even more active part in the integration of women in rural development. Some delegations suggested that FAO seek ways of dovetailing its action and projects for rural women with those of other agencies working in the Region but not members of the UN family.
- 27. The Committee stated that more concrete country action was urgently needed to better the present conditions under which rural women live and work.
- 28. In its discussion of the institutional aspect of women in rural development, the Technical Committee approved the lines of action proposed by the Secretariat. Concerning the institutional aspect, mention was made of the need for a clear-cut definition of the technical and administrative units responsible for implementing women's projects and programmes in the agricultural sector. This should ensure that the proper resources would be allocated and that development would not get bogged down in the traditional welfare approach so common in the field. Stress was laid on the need to continue disseminating information on the institutional aspect of women's development and to provide awareness training for the staff members of the Ministries of Agriculture and Planning on the importance and economic justification of action in favour of rural women.
- 29. Note was taken of the interest expressed by the delegation of one country, in having FAO prepare a study along the lines of other similar studies, on the role of women in rural development in that country.
- 30. Lastly, the Committee proposed that FAO and governments implement the recommendations of the Conference of the United Nations Decade for Women: Equality, Development and Peace, held in Nairobi in 1985, and recommended more active participation in this work by non-governmental organizations working to help rural women.

#### Helping the Small Farmer

- 31. In presenting this item, the Secretariat emphasized the importance of small farmers in Latin America and the Caribbean Region, with particular reference to this group's contribution to agricultural production. Emphasis was laid on the major role played by this sector of the population in the problems of poverty and rural development, and the structural, institutional and socio-economic limitations on this production group were identified.
- 32. The Secretariat proposed a list of specific policies to improve the contribution of small farmers, emphasizing the size and significance of this group in national economies. These policies were mainly concerned with: education and training; agro-industrial development and investment in non-agricultural activities in rural areas; generation of employment; and research and transfer of technology.
- 33. As well as describing FAO and Government activities in the Region in this field, the Secretariat made an appeal to all Member Nations to give high priority to policies for the small farmers' sector.
- 34. The Technical Committee thanked the Director-General of FAO for having placed this item on the Agenda of the Regional Conference, praised the quality of the document presented and agreed with the proposals contained in it. The Committee also expressed its satisfaction with the progress made by FAO in defining the concept of the small farmer, taking into account the ways in which different nations saw the problem. Recognizing the importance of this item for the Region, the Committee recommended that it be placed on the Agenda of future Regional Conferences, so that Governments and FAO could systematically analyze advances made by the small farmers' sector.
- 35. In discussing this item, the Committee expressed its support for the orientation of FAO's work and its specific activities in the Region, implementing the Programme of Action adopted by the World Conference on Agrarian Reform and Rural Development (WCARRD) held in Rome in 1979. The Committee suggested that the documentation and the discussion of this item be used in the preparation of the report on the evaluation of the follow-up to WCARRD, to be discussed at the Conference of FAO in Rome in 1987.
- 36. Many delegations took part in the discussions, providing detailed information on programmes for small farmers in their countries. Various delegations pointed out that, in addition to the problems normally confronting small-scale agriculture, there were not external influences aggravating this situation still further.
- 37. In discussing the concept of the small farmer, various delegations referred to the need to define this category more precisely, in view of the different interpretations existing at present. The Committee suggested that FAO continue to give special attention to this aspect and that efforts be made to define the scope of different connotations in the language commonly used with regard to the situation of problems of small farmers.
- 38. The Committee agreed that there should be an integral approach to the problems of small farmers and possible solutions, taking into account aspects such as: access to resources and factors of production, education and health, to production support services and marketing; promotion of producers' organizations as a basic instrument of development; support to production and marketing and transfer of appropriate technology.

- 39. The Committee reaffirmed the importance of Governments promoting access by small farmers to land ownership, guaranteeing security of tenure and making it easier for them to obtain title as promptly as possible, in countries where these problems have not yet been solved.
- 40. Attention was drawn to the need for FAO to conduct studies which would examine in greater depth the small farmer's contribution to food production.
- 41. In various interventions, delegations referred to the difficulties small farmers encountered in obtaining enough credit at the right time and at low interest rates. They suggested that FAO give wider publicity to successful experiments made by certain countries in this field. Emphasis was also laid on the need for credit institutions to modify current requirements for granting loans to small farmers, allowing the security to be the crop instead of title to the land.
- 42. The Committee recommended that Governments and international financing institutions increase the resources available to finance programmes and projects for small farmers. The Committee expressed its concern with regard to the financial situation of the International Fund for Agricultural Development, an organization which was created specifically to channel resources to small farmers, and requested that its resources be fully replenished as soon as possible, strongly urging contributors to honour their outstanding commitments with regard to the second replenishment of the Fund.
- 43. The Committee agreed that one of the major aspects to be considered was training for small farmers. This training should be geared to facilitate the adoption of appropriate technologies, whose introduction should nevertheless respect the special idiosyncracy of small farmers. The Committee pointed out that, if training were to be successful, it would have to be supported by literacy courses and the reorganization of educational systems to bring them more closely into line with the rural reality.
- 44. Various delegations expressed their gratitude to FAO and their support for its work in the formulation and application of socio-economic indicators with regard to the situation of the rural population, and suggested that the results of this work be distributed to multilateral and bilateral financing agencies.
- 45. Several delegations referred to the limited achievements of integrated rural development projects and indicated that the solution and policies of national scope, including the establishment of and support to organizations devoted specifically to this sector, should be properly coordinated.
- 46. The Committee emphasized the need for, and importance of, small farmers' participation in the development process, with special reference to the role to be played by community producers' organizations in achieving this objective.
- 47. Several delegations noted the need to establish agricultural insurance systems to mitigate the adverse effects of any contingency which might arise, including natural phenomena and disasters, on the economic stability of the small farmer. In this connection, FAO was requested to disseminate the results of successful experiments in this field in various countries.
- 48. The Committee appreciated the efforts made by FAO to achieve a deeper understanding of the problems of small farmers, and suggested that it continue

with this work, assisting governments to conduct national studies so that the present situation of the small farmers' sector could be understood in greater detail. The Committee emphasized the desirability of countries in the Region exchanging experiences, and requested FAO to promote and facilitate this exchange, not only at technical level, but also among small producers and their organizations.

- 49. In discussing this item, the Committee mentioned the need to update and improve statistics on small farmers. To this end, it recommended that agricultural censuses in 1990 include elements that would give a true picture of the socio-economic conditions of this group of producers. It was also suggested that various studies on the structure of land tenure and the socio-economic conditions of the peasant sector be updated.
- 50. The Committee appreciated efforts made by FAO to achieve a deeper understanding of the specific problems of rural development in the English-speaking countries of the Caribbean.
- 51. The Committee attached special importance to the role played by non-governmental organizations in rural development, particularly their experience in working with small farmers. The Committee suggested to governments and FAO that they expand, as far as possible and bearing in mind the specific characteristics of each country, the participation of non-governmental organizations in rural development.
- 52. During the debate on this item, several delegations requested specific technical assistance from FAO in rural development and agrarian reform.
- 53. Attention was drawn to the close connection between the situation of small farmers and food security, since any concrete assistance that FAO could provide, through governments, to small farmers, would have an effect on food security, as implementation of the World Food Security Compact would create additional employment and marketing opportunities for small farmers.

# Round Table on Problems Affecting Agricultural Development in the Small Island States of the Caribbean

- 54. As agreed by the Technical Committee, this Round Table was held on Wednesday, 6 August. The event was attended by delegates from countries directly involved in the study as well as by delegates from the other countries participating in the Committee and observers from various organizations.
- 55. The background information available for the discussions was included in document LARC/86/6, "Problems Affecting Agricultural Development in the Small Island States of the Caribbean", which was presented by the Secretariat.
- 56. Caribbean island states constitute a specific grouping of developing countries, characterized both by their general problems and those directly related to insularity and small size. In examining the impact of these last two features, the study highlighted the extremely low land/population ratios, the limited resource base, their narrow market size, high per caput cost of infrastructure and services, the difficulty of integrating national economies, the effects of natural disasters and the rigorous credit policies of regional financial institutions.

- 57. The historical development of Caribbean agriculture was examined. Prominent features were a heavy orientation towards mono-crop exports, a low level of domestic food crop production and skewed land tenure and land use patterns, resulting in a high volume of food imports. More recently, poor performance of traditional exports had sharpened the need for diversification in various areas among which the expansion of domestic food production, the development of non-traditional exports and increased food processing and agro-industry were highlighted.
- 58. In this process, the role of small farmers was seen as fundamental. The study analyzed the significant features of rural communities in these island states, indicating the high average age of farmers, a declining youth participation in farming, growing urbanization and a serious net decline in rural farming populations. These factors had a strong impact on production potential and the need to raise productivity to maintain and expand output.
- 59. The study also recognized efforts by Caribbean Governments with international assistance to address some of the problems raised, among which the establishment of institutions, the development of regional cooperation and research in key areas of production technology and systems, extension techniques and crop varieties were singled out. The accumulated knowledge and experiences were considered basic to intra- and extra-regional exchanges.
- 60. The study concluded that the continued development of these island states would hinge upon addressing the problems of small size and insularity through such measures as maximizing domestic and export market potential for traditional and non-traditional products, significantly increasing agricultural production and productivity, supporting the forestry, fisheries and processing subsectors, increasing assistance to research and development and supporting small farmers, especially women, who play an important role throughout the entire agricultural production and marketing process.
- 61. During the discussions several delegations emphasized the timeliness, importance and relevance of this study prepared by FAO and reiterated the urgency of implementing its recommendations within the subregion with the full support of governments, regional institutions and the international community.
- 62. Participants at the Round Table recognized the existence of human and technical resources within the Caribbean subregion which could be harnessed and channelled into promoting development of the area. In this respect, it was stressed that there was a wealth of native knowledge, technologies, experiences and skills among rural communities which should be directed towards cooperation among developing countries to promote adoption of appropriate development strategies. These strategies offered prospects for agricultural diversification and community industry at the level of small farmers, thus maximizing the use of indigenous materials, and generating family income as well as export earnings on a broader international scale. It was suggested that FAO could contribute through research and technical assistance to make greater use of these resources.
- 63. Participants expressed concern over the criteria and indicators applied in defining development levels in the case of Caribbean countries. These focused mainly on per caput income without regard to other considerations such as distribution of wealth, potential for sustaining economic growth or the high cost of maintaining basic infrastructure and services in island or multi-island states. It was pointed out that the high GNP per caput levels in

the subregion had prompted international financing agencies to "graduate" the Caribbean away from concessionary financing for development. This position was not justified by a wider review of the indicators and criteria, which would indicate the need for special measures in favour of insular states.

- 64. Participants also suggested that the objectives of Caribbean development should be broadly defined so as to include not merely material and economic growth but also genuine scope for grassroot participation and harmonious personal development among rural peoples. Such development implied integrated approaches involving a wide and diverse range of national agencies with effective and sensitive international assistance.
- 65. The following specific areas were cited by participants as requiring technical assistance from FAO and other international agencies to Caribbean governments:
  - establishing agricultural insurance schemes, particularly related to facilitating the rehabilitation of production following natural disasters;
  - creation of mechanisms to ensure access by small farmers to necessary agricultural equipment and inputs for production;
  - training and other types or technical support to establish food production programmes with particular reference to the identification, formulation and implementation of projects;
  - application of various support measures to enable countries of the subregion to take greater advantage of the provisions offered within the UN Law of the Sea Convention in favour of maritime developing countries;
  - changing consumption habits through sustained promotional programmes throughout the region. These would aim at reducing illiteracy levels and creating greater awareness of new uses of foods and indigenous raw materials for food processing so as to reduce the region's high food import bill;
  - strengthening institutions and international cooperation, with particular reference to credit, research, marketing and to internal, overland and external transportation;
  - improving mechanisms to allow for exchanges of trained manpower and the sharing of experiences;
  - support to develop effective planning systems and well-defined, longterm programmes for efficient and competitive agricultural production and marketing;
  - assistance to strengthen the handicraft sector by disseminating existing research, promoting new technologies to process agricultural products and developing new ones capable of generating income both in the domestic as well as in the export market.

## Aquaculture and Rural Development

- 66. In introducing this subject, the Secretariat referred to document LARC/86/7, which looked at the potential for aquaculture development in the Region as a means of improving the quality of life of the rural poor. The attention of the Committee was drawn to the main issues affecting aquaculture development as a means of rural development in Latin America and the Caribbean. It was pointed out that in-depth multidisciplinary planning was needed for rural development schemes which had aquaculture components integrated with other forms of rural production.
- 67. The Committee congratulated FAO on the inclusion of this topic for discussion, and for its comprehensive and clear presentation. It endorsed the views given in the document and underscored the need and the potential for aquaculture development in the Region in contributing to the achievement of many of the economic and social objectives of the governments. Among these were mentioned food security and self-sufficiency, improved nutrition, better foreign exchange balance, stemming rural migration, employment opportunities and, in general, improvement of the quality of life of the rural poor. Special note was also taken of the suitability of aquaculture as an activity to be undertaken by rural women.
- 68. Some delegations considered that, given the size and limited inland water resources of some small island states, aquaculture in these islands with species requiring substantial investment would be developed primarily by corporations and entrepreneurs. However, with the assistance of FAO and other institutions, attempt should be made to find low-cost aquacultural technologies for the rural population.
- 69. The Committee emphasized the need for more trained manpower to support aquaculture in the Region, with particular reference to rural producers, extensionists and technical personnel. It was noted that most such training could feasibly be done within the Region. In this regard, mention was made of FAO Regional Office collaboration with the Governments of Jamaica, Panama and Chile in providing training for a number of persons of the Region in aquaculture centres in these countries.
- 70. Some delegates highlighted the need for carrying out technological research and development within the Region. It was noted that technology transfer from outside often proved difficult to adapt to the specific conditions of the Region.
- 71. Many delegations, referring to their national experience, gave their support to Technical Cooperation among Developing Countries (TCDC) in this subject area, and welcomed the strengthening of technical cooperation networks within the Region. It was recommended that TCDC programmes should include activities for artisanal fishermen. Several delegations offered their facilities and special experience in support to TCDC activities. It was noted that a firm financial base was necessary to support these activities. Also, the Network News as a means of information sharing and coordination was noted and welcomed.
- 72. Several delegations cautioned, on the basis of their own experiences, that some care should be taken in embarking on aquaculture programmes. As examples, it was mentioned that the introduction of exotic species had sometimes proved problematic, and that shrimp culture had resulted in the unnecessary destruction of valuable mangroves in some instances.

- 73. Various delegations expressed their desire that, in horizontal technical collaboration activities sponsored by FAO, the Organization should promote the exchange of experiences and knowledge among those who were directly linked to productive activities, independently of their technical level, so that experienced aquaculturists could transfer their knowledge to those who were just starting in this activity.
- 74. The Committee noted that the theme of World Food Day in 1986 would be "Fishermen and their communities". One delegation referred to this subject and urged all countries in the Region to accord maximum importance and support to this celebration.
- 75. Delegations noted the good work being done by the Regional Latin American Aquaculture Centre (CERLA), expressed their support for the institution and noted with satisfaction the assistance now being provided to it by FAO with the financial support of the Government of Italy. Special emphasis was laid on the need to find permanent sources of finance. In this connection, Mexico, in agreement with COPESCAL (Commission for Inland Fisheries of Latin America), offered its national facilities for transfer of technology through one of the national centres connected to the CERLA programme.
- 76. The Committee recommended the production and distribution of audio-visuals, and other information materials for the promotion of rural aquaculture. Mention was made of some materials already produced which could be exchanged within the framework of the networks.
- 77. Delegates praised the work of FAO and its Regional Office, but requested that attention be given to close cooperation with organizations involved in aquaculture development in the Region. Mention was made of the forthcoming session of the COPESCAL Working Party on Aquaculture, at which this issue was scheduled to be discussed.

# Livestock Development Policies and Regional Cooperation in Latin America and the Caribbean

- 78. The Secretariat, in presenting this item, described the main features which have characterized livestock development within recent years in the Region. While there have been differences between and within countries and livestock species, the general pattern observed is one of unsatisfactory development of this subsector.
- 79. It was stated that the total expansion in animal production during this period, resulted more from increased numbers of animals rather than from higher productivity levels, which stagnated and even declined in the case of cattle. As a result, average per caput beef, mutton and goat meat production declined regionwide. Milk production rose only slightly, while per caput production of poultry meat more than doubled due mainly to large imports of feed materials and other inputs.
- 80. The significant stagnation of productivity of ruminants was regarded as crucial, considering the vast resources and potential for their production in Latin America, where more than 70 percent of agricultural land is under natural pastures.

- 81. Self-sufficiency ratios in the livestock subsector declined as a consequence, leading to reduced exports and increased imports of animal products, thus further affecting the indebtedness of countries in the Region.
- 82. The situation described is a result of various constraints among which are: inadequate feed resources and insufficient technical skills to optimize use of existing pastures, animal health problems, inadequate marketing arrangements, export discrimination, deficiencies in training and extension, as well as the low genetic quality of stocks.
- 83. The Secretariat presented a brief outline of FAO activities in this subsector in support of governments' efforts, which included programmes to improve animal feed security and genetic resources, dairy and meat development, animal health, training and publications, cooperative research networks, education and training.
- 84. The scope for increased cooperation among international, regional and subregional agencies was indicated in the following areas: animal health, marketing, science and technology and utilization of feed and improvement of genetic resources.
- 85. During the course of the discussions, several delegations expressed appreciation for the inclusion of this item, of great regional importance, in the Agenda of the Conference, and praised the quality of the document and its presentation. The document highlighted possible areas to orient governments in defining priority actions to promote the development of the subsector.
- 86. The Committee expressed concern over the unfavourable situation of livestock development stemming from environmental factors and the lack of adequate technologies, financial capability and development policies for this purpose. The Committee deplored the downward trend in livestock production in the Region and stressed the urgent need for positive action to change this situation.
- 87. Some delegations urged the Secretariat to take greater initiative in devising imaginative and comprehensive proposals and strategies for the consideration of governments.
- 88. Some delegations expressed the need for doses of semen from purebred cattle to improve their herds. One delegation offered to provide limited amounts of this article as a gesture of goodwill towards the other countries of the Region.
- 89. The Committee recommended the establishment of a Livestock Committee as an advisory body to the Council of FAO, in accordance with Article VI-2 of the FAO Constitution. In this context, it was suggested that FAO undertake the necessary action to implement this proposal. Two delegations indicated that though they had no objection to the core of the proposal, they were not in a position to support it at this time.
- 90. Another proposal was that a Livestock Expert Consultative Group or Panel of Experts be set up to address regional issues related to this subsector. Such a group could serve in an advisory capacity to define needs and priorities and provide a regular forum for consultations among Member States. This proposal was unanimously supported by the delegations and it was stressed that this regional consultative group should be composed of high-level livestock policy-makers and should meet at least once every two years.

- 91. Some delegations expressed surprise and reservations concerning the statements included in paragraph 33 of document LARC/86/8. This statement invited the governments of the exporting countries of Latin America to consider the adoption of strategies for adjusting output of livestock products to domestic and external market demand given the ongoing international context of depressed meat and dairy product prices. They were also asked to reconsider the advisability of production subsidies for domestic consumption in countries facing financial and economic problems. The Secretariat clarified the doubts expressed by these delegations, indicating its basic agreement with what had been said.
- 92. Some delegations stressed that the protectionist policies and export subsidies applied by some industrialized countries, particularly the EEC countries, contributed significantly to the lack of sufficient progress in the Region. In this context, the Committee reiterated the need for such countries to abolish these restrictions to trade.
- 93. Several delegations referred to the presence of the amblyoma variegatum tick, a vector for heartwater disease and dermatophilosis in some of the Caribbean countries and to the urgency for concerted action among governments and international and regional institutions and agencies. The Committee was apprised of the existence of a proposal for a feasibility study for the eradication of this vector and these diseases from the Caribbean countries. Some delegations expressed the view that FAO could play a leading role in coordinating international assistance efforts to address this issue. Other delegations considered that it was important for FAO to coordinate its support efforts with those of governments and other agencies already active in this field.
- 94. With respect to the need for eliminating constraints to livestock production and stimulating greater production and productivity levels, the Committee indicated the urgent need for action in the following areas:
  - i) technical assistance and support to livestock marketing programmes, infrastructure development, animal health, genetic improvement and animal feed;
  - ii) training and extension with particular reference to increased dissemination of technology through audio-visual media including self-instruction manuals, publications and films, drawing upon successful experiences such as the FAO/DANIDA Regional Dairy Development and Training Team for Latin America and the Caribbean;
  - iii) research with particular reference to feed resources, including pasture development and alternatives to traditional livestock feeds, bearing in mind livestock feed requirements during the dry seasons, utilization of by-products and development of animal production systems, especially for small farmers.
- 95. The Committee noted with satisfaction FAO's progress and achievements in promoting technical cooperation among developing countries and invited FAO to strengthen its efforts to assist the governments to establish regional and subregional technical cooperation networks, ensuring the active participation of national institutions. In this respect, several delegations referred to the Subregional Network on Small Stock Development in the Caribbean Countries

and the Regional Network on Veterinary Diagnostic Laboratories and their potential for greater exchange of information and experiences in livestock development.

- 96. In following specific areas were identified by the Committee as requiring FAO assistance:
  - i) identification of sources of additional funding to support livestock production and development in the Region;
  - ii) preparation of a medium— and long-term action programme to find viable solutions to the livestock feed problem, focusing particularly on the potential of the indigenous grasses and legumes within the Region;
  - iii) preparation of a long-term regional programme to eliminate animal health problems which constitute real barriers to trade in livestock products in this area;
  - iv) design of programmes to control animal diseases in small animals and in particular small ruminants;
  - v) support to the development and application of biotechnologies to increase livestock production, improve animal health and further genetic improvement.
- 97. The Committee highlighted the extreme urgency of reversing these downward trends in the production and consumption of livestock and dairy products in the Region. It was considered that this reversal could be brought about by fuller and more rational utilization of existing resources. Firm commitments by governments to develop this subsector in coordination with FAO and other international assistance agencies, were also considered necessary.